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          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Good afternoon,

          3  thank you for being here today.

          4                 My name is Jim Gennaro, I am Chair of

          5  the City Council's Committee on Environmental

          6  Protection.

          7                 I welcome you all to today's

          8  Committee oversight hearing on the New York City

          9  Department of Environmental Protection's Water

         10  Billing program, and the Department's efforts to

         11  improve its customer service, billing practices and

         12  bill collection performance.

         13                 Problems related to customer service,

         14  billing practices and collection performance at DEP

         15  are not new.  They have troubled the Department for

         16  many years.

         17                 Inquiries to the Department have not

         18  been answered promptly, these are historical, we're

         19  talking, have not been answered promptly, too many

         20  water bills have never reached customers, too many

         21  meters have not been read, individuals or businesses

         22  seeking to resolve seeming errors in water bills

         23  have too often encountered an unresponsive,

         24  uncooperative, and unsympathetic bureaucracy, that

         25  was before Joe Singleton, of course, and those who
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          2  refuse to pay their bills and choose to freeload off

          3  of bill paying New Yorkers, have often not been

          4  pursued aggressively.

          5                 Over the years, this Committee and me

          6  personally have focused considerable attention and

          7  energy to speaking to these deeply ingrained

          8  problems.

          9                 At many committee hearings, including

         10  our annual budget hearings, we have queried DEP

         11  customer service, billing practices and collection

         12  performance problems.

         13                 In addition, annually, around the

         14  time of proposed water and sewer rate adjustments,

         15  my staff and I have met with the Department and New

         16  York City Water Board officials to discuss these

         17  issues.  I have personally participated in meetings

         18  involving DEP and private sector organizations that

         19  have specifically focused on problems of customer

         20  service, billing practices and collection

         21  performance at the Department.

         22                 There are two reasons that these

         23  problems are so very important to me and to this

         24  Committee.

         25                 First, I have been a public servant
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          2  throughout my professional career, and I believe

          3  deeply that those who pay the salaries of public

          4  servants, that would be the hardworking tax payers

          5  of this City, deserve our utmost cooperation,

          6  respect and, of course, our assistance.  Water

          7  customers who need to contact DEP regarding their

          8  bills should expect no less in service.

          9                 Secondly, the problems of customer

         10  service, billing practices and collection

         11  performance are each ultimately tied to the amount

         12  of money that New Yorkers pay for their water.

         13  People may not be likely to pay water bills if they

         14  don't understand them.   People aren't likely to pay

         15  for water when they don't receive bills.  People

         16  don't pay bills when the believe they are in obvious

         17  error, and can't resolve errors with DEP, and

         18  freeloaders who simply refuse to pay their bills

         19  don't pay up until DEP aggressively collects after

         20  them.

         21                 As a result, the City has amassed

         22  hundreds of millions of dollars of uncollected water

         23  bills that, if even a portion of which could be

         24  collected upon, would help to minimize future water

         25  bills for all New Yorkers.
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          2                 Early this past summer, after

          3  numerous meetings and conversations with DEP and

          4  Water Board officials regarding this years' 9.4

          5  percent hike in water and sewer rates, I urged the

          6  Department to create a comprehensive strategy to

          7  speak to its lingering problems of customer service,

          8  billing and collection. I urged that the strategy

          9  have three main elements.  That it be carefully

         10  crafted, fully funded and sufficiently staffed.

         11  That it focus internally at deficiencies and the

         12  DEP's customer service and billing practices,

         13  affecting both residential and commercial customers,

         14  and that this strategy be designed to meet specific

         15  goals, including a $50 million per year goal in the

         16  collection of unpaid bills, which is a goal that had

         17  been established in 2005, and subsequently dropped.

         18                 I also told the Department that I

         19  intended to hold a hearing of this Committee in six

         20  months to check in on DEP's progress in creating,

         21  and hopefully implementing such a comprehensive

         22  customer service, billing and collection strategy. Today

         23  is this check- in, and I look forward to hearing the

         24  Departments' status report.

         25                 I should mention before I conclude
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          2  that I firmly believe that Commissioner Lloyd fully

          3  recognizes and appreciates both the customer

          4  service, billing and collection problems that have

          5  haunted the Department, and the critical imperative

          6  to fix these problems.  I salute her for devoting

          7  her personal attention and leadership to tackling

          8  these extremely difficult, and deeply rooted

          9  historical problems.  She has my continued pledge of

         10  support and of my assistance.

         11                 I should also acknowledge the hard

         12  work, and frankly, courage, of Joe Singleton the

         13  DEP's point person assigned to turn the Departments'

         14  customer service, billing and collection problems

         15  around.

         16                 Joe, you've been given a huge

         17  assignment, but I've heard many positive reports of

         18  your progress, and I look forward today to hearing

         19  more about your progress and future plans.

         20                 So, here we are and there's a lot of

         21  attention being focused on this issue, a lot of

         22  problems that go back a long time, and I just want

         23  to go back to where we were at the budget hearing

         24  six months ago, at which I made the pledge which I

         25  will repeat, that whatever it is that the Department
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          2  believes its needs are in the ways of resources or

          3  hardware, or whatever financial resources it needs

          4  to tackle this, I and this Committee and this

          5  Council are certainly as committed as is your

          6  Department and you, Commissioner, to providing the

          7  Department with whatever it would need to tackle

          8  this most challenging situation.  As I've said in

          9  the past, going back to a couple of years ago when

         10  we had the $50 million collection target that was

         11  tied to the three percent increase, which I

         12  encouraged because of the obligation it would create

         13  on the part of DEP to do those collections and

         14  improve its operations and the subsequent slippage

         15  back to the $15 million target, which I did not

         16  support, I know that you have done a lot in the last

         17  six months, Commissioner, with Joe and your team.

         18  The people have heard and read about problems that

         19  continue to plague the Department, but we're here

         20  for good news Commissioner, and hopefully you and

         21  your team will be able to deliver that.  Hopefully

         22  you can give us a plan and we look forward to

         23  supporting that plan with the financial resources in

         24  the next budget process.

         25                 So with that said, I welcome you
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          2  Commissioner and your team, everyone who is here

          3  today.

          4                 I want to thank the staff to the

          5  Committee, Donna De Costanzo, Dan Avery, my own

          6  Chief of Staff, Peter Washburn, Veronica McNeil, and

          7  all of the Council staff that brought us here to

          8  this hearing today.

          9                 So with that said, I will give you my

         10  final welcome, and then I'll ask Donna De Costanzo

         11  to swear the witnesses, and afterwards you can state

         12  your names for the record, and proceed with your

         13  good testimony.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE:  Please

         16  raise your right hand.

         17                 In the testimony that you are about

         18  to give, do you swear of affirm to tell the truth,

         19  the whole truth, and nothing but the truth.

         20                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  I do.

         21                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE:  Thank you.

         22                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  Thank you,

         23  Council Member Gennaro.

         24                 Thank you very much for the support

         25  and interest and guidance you have given us on this
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          2  important subject.  I don't know if Steve Lawitts,

          3  the First Deputy Commissioner, on my right, was

          4  introduced but if he was not I want to make sure

          5  that people know who he is as well.  He also serves

          6  as Executive Director of the Water Board, so he has

          7  a very important role in all of this.

          8                 This issue is one of tremendous

          9  importance to DEP. We take delivering high quality,

         10  reliable service every day extremely seriously.  For

         11  165 years, we have been delivering to New York City

         12  residents some of the best water in the world.  If

         13  there's a water main break, DEP workers are there

         14  any time day or night where they are needed, to do

         15  what needs to be done.  If there's a flood Upstate,

         16  they are there to try to help out.

         17                 So, service is very important to us,

         18  and we intend to bring our water billing and

         19  collections operations up to the same standard of

         20  excellence of the rest of the work that we do.     This

         21  is very important to me personally as you know.  The

         22  Mayor has directed me to do this, so that makes it

         23  even more important to me.  I know what a high

         24  priority it is for you, but probably most

         25  importantly of all it's the right thing to do for
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          2  our 825,000 customers.

          3                 Today I'd like to talk a little bit

          4  about how we're going about making these

          5  improvements, and report on some progress that we've

          6  made.

          7                 As you may recall, when we started

          8  talking about this we were still really in the stage

          9  of trying to define this problem.  We knew that the

         10  Department had done a variety of things to collect,

         11  to try to go at I think what you would call the low-

         12  hanging fruit with some success, but we felt the

         13  moment had come when we really had to go to the

         14  heart of the problem. Every water supplier in the

         15  country agrees that where problems start is with

         16  missed- reads and estimated bills. That's where

         17  customers get confused.  It's where disputes start,

         18  and ultimately if those disputes don't get resolved,

         19  that's where non- payment starts.

         20                 So achieving accurate records of

         21  water use is extremely important to us, and I'll be

         22  talking about that as we go along.

         23                 The second objective that we have is

         24  to provide helpful customer service.  We have a much

         25  maligned, but in fact, very dedicated staff at our
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          2  call center and some of our walk- in centers, but

          3  over the past ten years, I think really, they have

          4  been so deluged with calls and complaints and

          5  disputes that were difficult to untangle that they

          6  have not been able to give the level of support to

          7  the customers that they would like to.

          8                 Just a year ago someone calling to

          9  get information or to make a complaint could wait as

         10  long as 45 minutes, and 15 percent of the people who

         11  tried to call ended up hanging up without having

         12  spoken to anyone because, presumably, they couldn't

         13  wait any longer.  So, addressing this has been

         14  critical to us as well.

         15                 The third major objective we have is

         16  to provide clear and informative billing.  Anyone in

         17  the room who is a tenant probably doesn't know what

         18  we're talking about, but anyone who is an owner and

         19  receives a water bill, I probably need to say no

         20  more.

         21                 The fourth objective is to carry out

         22  effective collection.  Now I think it's important to

         23  note that 90 percent of our customers pay within two

         24  billing cycles, and that's a good industry standard.

         25    Two billing cycles is a reasonable amount of time
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          2  with which to pay, and those people typically do not

          3  become problem non- payers.  But, it's the five

          4  percent who haven't paid after about a year or the

          5  half of a percent, I think it is, give or take a

          6  little bit, that are on that list that have been on

          7  there for ten years or more that are really a

          8  nightmare in terms of collection.   A nightmare for

          9  us, and in many cases a nightmare for them.

         10                 So, let me talk about each of these

         11  objectives in a little more detail.

         12                 First of all, the objective of

         13  getting more accurate records of water use.  We want

         14  to increase our actual meter reads.  Right now, Con

         15  Edison does our reads for us, and they are able to

         16  get about 84 percent reads in any quarter.  We have

         17  now signed a new contract with them --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  What was that

         19  percentage?

         20                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  Eighty-four

         21  percent was what they were achieving.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Eight-four

         23  percent.

         24                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  We have now

         25  signed a new contract with them, we put it out to
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          2  bid.  They had the best proposal, but we did re-

          3  write the contract, and so now, they have very

          4  strong incentives and disincentives to achieve 90

          5  percent actual reads.

          6                 In addition, we are in the process to

          7  bid out a contract which we will do in February to

          8  hire someone to take a very special look at a small

          9  number of persistent non-read addresses, places

         10  where the Con Edison reader seems to rarely or never

         11  be able to get a read.  To go in there and report

         12  back, to try to get a read and more importantly

         13  report back what the problem is so that we can try

         14  to fix it, so that we can then back up that more

         15  aggressive effort by Con Edison with solving some

         16  problems if there's a real impediment to getting the

         17  read, other than the person not being home, for

         18  example.

         19                 In the long run, we are going to go

         20  and we're moving ahead very quickly, we're switching

         21  over to automatic meter reading as many other major

         22  cities have, which will make it possible for us to

         23  obtain 99 percent- plus actual reads, and we plan to

         24  have that installed by 2010.  The wonderful thing

         25  that goes with that is the cities that have it
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          2  installed, report a dramatic drop in complaints and

          3  disputes.  So, not only does it strengthen the

          4  Departments' hand if the moment comes when we have

          5  to aggressively collect, but in fact, because the

          6  customer has confidence in the read, we have

          7  confidence in the read, and there is an actual read,

          8  a lot of those complaints and disputes just go away.

          9                 Our second objective is to provide

         10  more helpful customer service, and that includes the

         11  timely resolution of customer concerns.  The most

         12  prominent way that people try to get our help on

         13  something is through our call center.  Eighty- five

         14  percent of our customers inquiries come through our

         15  call center, and this is the call center that I

         16  eluded to a few minutes that has so many

         17  difficulties in terms of carrying out their work.  Since

         18  Joe Singleton has been there, the staff has been

         19  reorganized, some of them have been retrained.  The

         20  way the supervisors are involved has been changed,

         21  some minor technical improvements on how the

         22  computer use has been put in place, all things that

         23  we were able to do in- house on our own, the call

         24  centers have been restructured to reflect when

         25  notices go out, and what the flow of actual calls
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          2  is, and we have affected a 90 percent reduction in

          3  the average call wait time, so that it is now

          4  currently less than 40 seconds, which is well within

          5  the industry standards.

          6                 In fact, the Daily News carried a

          7  little picture yesterday, earlier this week we were

          8  able to have a ceremony to thank the people who work

          9  in the call center for this tremendous turnaround

         10  that they've participated in, in improving the

         11  service that people get.  Not only do they get their

         12  calls answered more quickly, but because the people

         13  who are answering those calls are less pressed and

         14  they don't have an enormous backlog, and they know

         15  they are going to get to everybody, they're able to

         16  give more time and be more helpful, and if you spend

         17  some time in the call center and listen to the

         18  conversation, the qualitative difference compared to

         19  a few months ago is really dramatic.

         20                 The second way that people contact

         21  us, and it's often at the request of the person they

         22  spoke to at the call center, if they have a thorny

         23  dispute that the person answering the phone cannot

         24  resolve for them, then they are asked to send a

         25  letter about this problem.  That staff again has
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          2  been reorganized and retrained.  We put in some

          3  electronic records management, and we so far, have

          4  been able to achieve a 41 percent reduction in

          5  response time while handling 23 percent more

          6  correspondence, and we think the pickup in the

          7  correspondence is that more people are getting

          8  through the call center and are getting the

          9  information, and are getting  --  are writing their

         10  letters.  They know the next step to go through is

         11  to get this letter in.  We are not yet satisfied

         12  with where we are with that, and the consultant we

         13  have hired to help us with all of this, Booze Allen,

         14  will be benchmarking this against best practices and

         15  other similar kinds of environments to help us

         16  establish standards for the turnaround time on our

         17  correspondence.

         18                 We also have walk- in help centers.

         19  We have not started working on those yet.  We are

         20  waiting for Booze Allen, and they again will help us

         21  redesign these centers and work with us to make the

         22  service there as good as it possibly can be.  They

         23  will be making recommendations in terms of process

         24  staffing, technology support, and we hope to be able

         25  to have those recommendations and be started on the
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          2  roll- out of any changes by June of this year, this

          3  coming year.

          4                      The fourth area is website

          5  access.  This is an area where, I think, we have

          6  really not been up with the times in terms of people

          7  being able to get information, and to make

          8  transactions.  We are putting in place a new,

          9  simpler on- line payment option that will be in

         10  place in March, but I'll talk in a few minutes about

         11  what some of our longer- term plans are.

         12                 Finally, this issue of disputes.

         13  Frequently, people have questions, frequently if

         14  they are surprised, they get a bill that they think

         15  is higher than they should have gotten, there will

         16  be essentially a dispute.  We will try to explain to

         17  them what we think happened.  They will not have

         18  confidence in that explanation, and we have a

         19  dispute that needs to be resolved in some way, and

         20  we want to resolve it in a way, not only that we

         21  collect money that we think we're owed, but they

         22  feel that this has been done fairly.

         23                 So, we will again be working with

         24  Booze Allen to identify and evaluate ways of doing

         25  dispute resolution, and we are very open to whatever
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          2  they would recommend to make this work on both

          3  sides.

          4                 There's a tremendous array of things

          5  that people do, everything from using mediators, to

          6  having steps of things that the customer can do

          7  themselves to try to resolve an issue.            So

          8  we will be looking at this and again, hope to have

          9  recommendations and be started down the road to

         10  putting it in place June of this year, this coming

         11  year, I'm sorry I keep creeping over the 31st.

         12                 Moving on to more effective billing

         13  and collections, as I mentioned 90 percent of New

         14  Yorkers pay their bills within two billing cycles.

         15  Our goal is to achieve a 99 percent collection rate.

         16    That's very ambitious.  Most big cities that use

         17  much more aggressive enforcement than we do, are

         18  between 95 and 99 percent.  There is one city,

         19  Boston, that somehow manages to collect 103 percent,

         20  but we've been asking the avidly how they do that

         21  and understand a couple of things they do, but

         22  we'll be very happy if we get the 99 percent, and

         23  then we can talk about 103 percent, but that is our

         24  goal.

         25                 The other thing that we really need
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          2  to resolve is this issue of old unpaid balances.

          3  It's a relatively small number of accounts, but it's

          4  a significant amount of money because they have gone

          5  on for a very long time, and not only may they be

          6  accounts that have problems because there are leaks

          7  or other problems that the owner has not addressed,

          8  so it is a large bill, and it's been accumulating as

          9  well as the late fees.  So we do need to address

         10  these for once and for all.  We've been carrying

         11  them, many of them came over to us from when Finance

         12  was managing it, and as the New York Times reported,

         13  go back decades, and we are going to work with Booze

         14  Allen to really plow through these accounts.

         15                 I wish that the Department had felt

         16  that it could, or been able to make it a priority to

         17  do this prior to now, but it is critical, we think

         18  that we do it now and they will be advising us on

         19  which of that old debt is collectable and how the

         20  remainder should be resolved and we hope to move

         21  forward on that in an expedited way.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  If I could,

         23  Commissioner, I normally save my questions for the

         24  end, but with regard to that last category that you

         25  just mentioned, these historic non- payers, how many
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          2  accounts are we talking about, and what is the total

          3  outstanding balance that that amounts to?  Of

          4  course, with the understanding that we have to see

          5  if that is a real balance because some of these

          6  charges may or may not be actual charges or

          7  whatever.

          8                 But do you have a sense of how many

          9  accounts and how much money this is?

         10                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  The people that

         11  we consider to be, sort of, hardcore non-payers

         12  although they may have an unresolved dispute, are

         13  people who have an account that is older than two

         14  years, they've owed us money for more than two years

         15  and they have not made any payment during the recent

         16  two years, and that's about 21,000 accounts.  The

         17  balance that that group owes, I'm going to turn to

         18  Steve for that.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Twenty-one

         20  thousand accounts out of 800,000 and change.  So,

         21  800,000 --

         22                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  Up 2.7 percent,

         23  but who's counting?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay, and how

         25  much money is that?  Did I miss that part?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:

          3  Afternoon.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Hi Joe.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:

          6  Two-hundred and thirty-one million on that 21,000,

          7  as of March of this year.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Two-hundred and

          9  thirty one million outstanding.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:  Yes,

         11  correct.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Best we can

         13  figure?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:  In

         15  utility charge and late payment charges.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Pardon?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:  In

         18  utility and late payment charges on the accrued --

         19                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  That's both the

         20  bill and the fines.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  How much is

         22  that per customer?  I can't do that math quickly.

         23  How much is that per customer?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:  One-

         25  hundred thousand per customer.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LLOYD:  One- hundred

          3  thousand per customer, okay.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:  I'm

          5  sorry, ten- thousand.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Ten-thousand?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:

          8  Ten-thousand.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay, they all

         10  just breathed a collective big sigh of relief.

         11  That's what that big gasping sound was.

         12                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  The devil's in

         13  the zero's, or the decimal point.

         14                 Yes, I'm sorry did you have a further

         15  question on that?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Oh, no not

         17  right now.

         18                 Thank you, please continue.

         19                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  The next

         20  objective that we have is more effective billing.

         21  As I mentioned before, and I joke about it, but I

         22  take it very, very seriously.  Our bills are not

         23  clear.  If there has been any wrinkle in the back

         24  and forth between DEP and the customers, they're

         25  even more unclear, and this is not unusual among
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          2  utilities but it is, I think, a great disservice to

          3  the customer, and a disservice to us because if

          4  people don't understand their bill, they are more

          5  likely to have a problem with it.

          6                 So, we will be looking to evaluate

          7  the models and come up with a re- design that I hope

          8  will be clear and useful.               My goal is

          9  to have it be as clear as a credit card bill that

         10  you can really track through all the information

         11  that you want to know on it, and we hope to have

         12  that ready to go again by June of`07.

         13                 The other thing that I think has been

         14  a great source of misunderstanding has been the need

         15  to do a timely notice of consumption spikes.

         16                 The way our system is set up, it

         17  pulls out  --  if someone gets an unusually high

         18  bill, it will pull out that spike and because it

         19  takes times to investigate to see what might have

         20  caused it, in the past sometimes that person will

         21  receive and estimated bill rather than getting their

         22  bill with the spike. So, if they had a problem like

         23  a running toilet, they would have gone two cycles,

         24  but by the time they got the real bill, which by

         25  then would be much higher.  So of course, they would
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          2  be confused and upset.

          3                 So, we are now in the process of

          4  setting up the computer so that we can identify

          5  these spikes, and send them out with a notice saying

          6    --  calling it to the person's attention so that

          7  they don't just glance at their bill, they

          8  see,`please pay attention to this, you have had a

          9  spike in use,' and we will try to work with them to

         10  identify and diagnose the problem, and one of the

         11  things that we intend to do is to expand our

         12  capacity because frequently these things can't be

         13  solved over the phone to actually go to the site and

         14  look at the  --  try to help them diagnose the

         15  problem so that they can be fixed.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right, let me

         17  just jump in for a second on that, and you said that

         18  when there was a spike in the past, the process

         19  would be to intentionally send them an estimated

         20  bill because  --  and the rational behind that was--

         21                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  The rational

         22  that was  -- going back ten years to when the

         23  metering first began, and the meters were still not

         24  that reliable, when people got a spike, sometimes

         25  the meter needed to be adjusted.  This is what I am
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          2  told, this is anecdotal information.  So that rather

          3  than somebody  --  and the spikes were enormous, so

          4  rather than somebody suddenly getting the bill for

          5  $10,000, they would pull the bill and check to make

          6  sure it was a good read before they sent out the

          7  actual bill, but over time those spikes have

          8  generally come down, so that now they're more

          9  typically associated with somebody that has a

         10  running toilet or they've put in a new irrigation

         11  system that has a problem or something like that.

         12  They need to know that, so that they can get it

         13  fixed, and we need to bring it to their attention.

         14                 So, this is something that we are

         15  changing so that --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  So the syndrome

         17  that we're in now is that this estimated bill only

         18  leads to like the non detection of the spike and an

         19  additional months, or I guess a quarters' worth of

         20  additional usage.

         21                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  Joe has already

         22  changed that manually, but we are in the process of

         23  programming it into the computer system so that it

         24  will be an automatic thing.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  The next

          3  objective I'd like to talk about a little bit is

          4  more effective collections.

          5                 We have spoken frequently in the past

          6  about more effective collections, and how we're able

          7  to do it.  Sometimes we have a technique that will

          8  be extremely effective, and we will get a real flow

          9  of money for a period of time.

         10                 Sometimes we have to work very hard

         11  for a relatively small pocket, but every bit is

         12  important to us, and one of the things that Joe has

         13  been doing is looking for ways, even as we try to

         14  fix some of these things, and get Booze Allen on

         15  board so that we can, we hope, be much more

         16  effective with our customers.

         17                 There were some things that he has

         18  been able to do that has boosted our revenues for

         19  Fiscal Year`07 by $167 million.

         20                 The first effort was to really cross-

         21  match with the Department of Finance, to make sure

         22  that we had the right address and the right owner to

         23  send the bill to.  Over time, that data slips out of

         24  currency, DOF has been systematic over the years in

         25  updating it, as we will be.
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          2                 We're going to start cross- checking

          3  with several agencies, but just this initial cross-

          4  match that we did generated $16 million in payments.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Just at a risk

          6  of really just smashing my old paradigm of saving

          7  all the questions until the end, this is such a vast

          8  subject matter that I may just jump in from time to

          9  time, and pepper you folks with questions, and of

         10  course, I'll have some at the end.

         11                 With this cross- matching, this was

         12  just taking the addresses that you had for the

         13  properties, and comparing them for the addresses

         14  that the Department of Finance had for the

         15  properties, and it seems like such a basic kind of

         16  thing that I'm wondering why it took until 2006 to

         17  do that?  Also what numbers from just this first

         18  pass, I mean, how many wrong addresses did you have?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:  The

         20  population that we ran against was about 21,000

         21  accounts that had not made payments in two years,

         22  and what we did, we got a tape from Finance, it was

         23  not integrated at that point, we got someone who had

         24  a very small application and compare names; Smith,

         25  John  --  John, Smith would come up as a match, so
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          2  we knew that was good.

          3                 There were thousands of accounts that

          4  we had the wrong contact information, that had not

          5  made a payment in two years.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  How many

          7  thousands?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:  I'll

          9  give you the exact number, it was in excess of

         10  2,000.

         11                 So, when we started looking at that

         12  we knew we had to develop a more robust way of doing

         13  that, and what we've done now is we've talked to

         14  Finance, and they give us a weekly tape that has all

         15  those statement of accounts addresses, both the

         16  mailing address, the service address, the address

         17  where the refund is sent to, the R- pad address, as

         18  well as the amount and the dollar  --  the date of

         19  the last tax payment.

         20                 So now we've been doing that since

         21  November, about November 3rd.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  And it's

         23  generally assumed that the address is sent to the

         24  Department of Finance for the purposes of property

         25  tax collection and all that, are looked upon as
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          2  pretty tight?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:  The

          4  reason we believe they're more robust than ours is

          5  because they did a data- cleansing based on the

          6  refunds.  They wanted to make sure they got refunds

          7  into everybody's hands, so there was a massive data-

          8  cleansing as far as address contact at that point,

          9  but yes.

         10                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  Understandably,

         11  people were more eager to make sure they had the

         12  right address for their refund than for us to send a

         13  water bill.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Imagine that.

         15                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  The second

         16  initiative that Joe has implemented is to, and this

         17  has come out of a series of mailings, is to really

         18  press to get more people into payment agreements and

         19  that the number of payment agreements has increased

         20  by 34 percent, and committed payments has doubled to

         21  $248 million over three years, which translates to

         22  about $40 million a year in revenue.

         23                 Another aspect is more aggressive

         24  follow- up on the telephone with defaulted  --

         25  people who are in defaulted payment agreements, and
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          2  that has yielded $3 million so far.  That's a

          3  relatively new effort, and one thing that has been

          4  done very well is a new cycle of three overdue

          5  notices that were redesigned, that are very crisp,

          6  very clear, have a tear- off at the bottom of the

          7  page to help people, right then and there, make

          8  payments, and the people who receive those letters

          9  have paid $145 million since they've received those

         10  letters.  Those were all overdue notices.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Yes, I've got

         12  to stop there for a second, $145 million is a lot of

         13  money, and that's 90 percent of the $167 million

         14  revenue boost.  I just need a

         15  little  --  so, someone doesn't pay, they get an

         16  overdue notice, and so if they have three overdue

         17  notices in succession, these are sent out  --  let's

         18  say you sent a quarterly bill to my house and I

         19  don't pay it, when am I going to get my first

         20  overdue notice?  How long does that take?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:  Based

         22  on the parameters of when we run that, but most of

         23  the time--

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  And also, have

         25  I ever gotten any?  Do you know that?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:  I

          3  can't answer that.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I'm messing

          5  with you, I'm just messing with you.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:  I

          7  know you are.

          8                 The majority of the accounts were run

          9  against delinquencies in excesses of $1,000.  We

         10  wanted to try to get the most delinquent clients to

         11  come in.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Oh, so in other

         13  words, if I have a moderate water bill, and I don't

         14  pay it in a particular quarter, I may just get my

         15  bill the next quarter, if I don't use a lot of

         16  water?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:  You

         18  may just get the bill the next quarter.  We can

         19  ratchet that number down, but when we stated based

         20  on the number of delinquencies we saw, we wanted to

         21  put a dollar threshold.

         22                 In other words, I didn't want to send

         23  a reminder notice to someone who's got $1.25 left

         24  over from their last bill. So, there was a

         25  threshold.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:  And

          4  that threshold we can ratchet down or up as we see--

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Sergeant is

          6  going to want you to speak a little closer to the

          7  microphone.  I can tell he wants that, I can sense

          8  it.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:

         10  Understood.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  And so if you

         12  owe $1,000, you're going to get an overdue notice in

         13  what, a month, two months, or how long?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:

         15  You're going to get it within 60 days of --  greater

         16  than 60 days, yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Greater than 60

         18  days, and then if I don't pay that it's some other

         19  period of time.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:

         21  You'll get a second.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  A second, and

         23  then I get the third, and so, do I get this on the

         24  third or after the third? This tear- off, this whole

         25  new thing?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:

          3  There's a tear- off on the first, the second, and

          4  the third.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:  We

          7  request payment every time we mail you one of those.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  And a tear- off

          9  is what? Like a tap or something that's?

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:  It's

         11  got a perforated tab, and you just tear it off like

         12  you would a lot of your bills, the bottom third of

         13  the paper is a tear-off.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Oh, I see, and

         15  this is really just a matter of making people more

         16  aware of the fact that they owe money with this,

         17  right?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:  The

         19  prior delinquency notices look like a form letter,

         20  it did not say`past due account,' it did not have

         21  anything bold, it did not have a tear- off, so we

         22  found that a lot of customers did respond to that, a

         23  lot of non- English speaking individuals realized

         24  that the account is now past due, and they've walked

         25  into the 13th Floor of the Queens office.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right, right,

          3  and was this a concept that you developed in- house,

          4  or the subject of a consultant, or how did that

          5  work?

          6                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  No, we really

          7   --  we want to have the consultant do this in a

          8  systematic way.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

         10                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  But, while we

         11  were going through the procurement process for the

         12  consultant, we really wanted to try some, what we

         13  thought, were fairly obvious things that we saw as

         14  really just clearer information.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right, right.

         16                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  And so, Joe

         17  designed this, or someone in his office did, and we

         18  just sent it out to see how it would work, and it

         19  worked very well.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay, fine,

         21  please continue.

         22                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  It was very

         23  encouraging.

         24                 Okay, just to end up with new

         25  technology and business practices.
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          2                 We are doing some system upgrades.

          3  The system that we have, our customer information

          4  system, is an old system. It's not particularly

          5  robust or agile.  It's not easy to get reports out

          6  of it to do analysis, but even though we are

          7  planning to develop a new customer information

          8  system to integrate with automatic meter reading, we

          9  wanted to do what we could, short term, and Joe is

         10  working with our director and information technology

         11  to do a variety of relatively modest upgrades, and

         12  several of those are going in and will be in effect

         13  by March and they will  --  really right now they're

         14  focused on just the kind of thing we talked about,

         15  allowing people to have a little more versatility in

         16  terms of how they send out notices, how they pull

         17  out reports, so that we can be more effective in

         18  communicating with our customers.  And we hope, both

         19  giving them better information and getting better

         20  payment.

         21                 The second piece of this, obviously,

         22  is the big one.  We've talked to you about this,

         23  this is the automated meter reading.  We have been

         24  piloting one form of this in one location, and think

         25  it's very impressive.  Other major cities have done
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          2  it, and are very positive about it, and we are in

          3  the process of partnering with DoITT so that we will

          4  piggyback on the new wireless system they're

          5  installing citywide, and we are planning to begin

          6  installation of this in January of`08.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Let me just

          8  jump in again with the automated meter reading.

          9                 Will this require the installation of

         10  new meters to do this, or can you retrofit the ones

         11  that are there?  Or how does that work?

         12                 Because it seems like we only just

         13   --  it's like we just got done putting in all these

         14  meters, and there was a lot of them, and what will

         15  we have to do to these meters, and was this

         16  technology available when we decided to meter in the

         17  first place?

         18                 Couple of questions, but you can

         19  answer them in whatever pattern.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:  The

         21  majority of the meters should be able to work with

         22  the existing meter heads.  So for the most part,

         23  they'll be compatible with the meters that are in

         24  there. While we gain access, if we have certain

         25  meters that we know were older, going on 15- plus
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          2  years, we may change out the meter as well while

          3  we're in there putting this device in.

          4                 Fifteen years ago, this technology

          5  was not available in the form that we have

          6  envisioned using.  There probably was a phone- in

          7  system at that time.  There was not a fixed network

          8  to my knowledge at that point.  There was for

          9  gas/electricity, but I believe it's just starting to

         10  come into water, on a wireless basis.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay fine,

         12  fine.  Thank you.

         13                 Continue, please

         14                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  I also mentioned

         15  that we will be doing a companion system to go with

         16  this for our customer information system with the

         17  long- term goal of giving customers more direct

         18  access to their accounts, and the ability to carry

         19  out more transactions, but that will be developed in

         20  partnership with the AMR.  So that is  --  we hope

         21  we will be able to start to implement that in`08,

         22  but it has to go along with the AMR, so that the two

         23  will be fully integrated.

         24                 Then, I've already mentioned the old

         25  debt resolution, the dispute resolution, the
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          2  continuing improvement to customer service

          3  functions, which are all things we consider to be

          4  business processes that will get done over the next

          5  six months.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  That will be

          7  Booze Allen, right.

          8                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  Thank you very

          9  much.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay, okay,

         11  thank you, Commissioner.

         12                 I want to recognize the presence of

         13  Council Member Melissa Mark-Viverito.  It's a

         14  pleasure to have her here with us today.

         15                 I know that Council Member White was

         16  here briefly. Council Member Vallone was here

         17  briefly, Council Member Stewart. We have a lot of

         18  action going on in the Council today, and people are

         19  running around at City Hall, we're of course like,

         20  across the street so people have to venture across

         21  the street to come here.

         22                 I guess before I get to my prepared

         23  question, I guess my first sense is that this is

         24  like a basic, fundamental start, and I'm sure people

         25  who are out there listening to the testimony are
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          2  heartened by the progress, but when we look at what

          3  has been done to make these things happen, it's

          4  reconciliation of the addresses with Finance, just

          5  to make sure that we have that right, reaching out

          6  to late payers with a more effective and clearer

          7  document to interact with.  Almost the kind of

          8  things that would, sort of, constitute not even a

          9  stage one of a re vamp, more of like a stage zero.

         10  You know, it's like we should have clear documents,

         11  we should have accurate addresses, we should have

         12   --  that's kind of like where you start from.

         13                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  I think that

         14  that is, although I don't want to stage zero to Joe,

         15  who's been  --  I don't think the revenues he's

         16  brought in are stage zero, but--

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I'm just saying

         18    --  but you've got to have stage zero before you

         19  can have stage one.

         20                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  But clearly, the

         21  top to bottom look a the whole operation is what we

         22  are engaging the consultant to do, and that is where

         23  we will see major changes, we anticipate.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right, let's

         25  talk about that.
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          2                 Now, since we had the whole big who-

          3  ha back during the budget process and all that,

          4  where we really made this a cause celeb, you and I

          5  both, which was good, we both realized it had to be

          6  done, I offered you money and you didn't want to

          7  take too much, that's okay.  But, what are the steps

          8  that happen from then until now?

          9                 There was  --  and if you can just

         10  walk me through that.  We did the re- vamp with the

         11  tear- off, we did the address thing, we I guess

         12  developed an RFP, whatever, for Booze Allen, or

         13  whatever.

         14                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  We have written

         15  the new contract for the increased number of meter

         16  reads.

         17                 We have the contract for the

         18  difficult- to- access meters ready to go.

         19                 We have done the upgrades in- house,

         20  what we could do in- house with the call center and

         21  the correspondence.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Regarding the

         23  incentive, I just want to interrupt for a second,

         24  regarding the incentives, can you just explain that

         25  to  --  how does that work?  Because we've got ConEd
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          2  that can't get to all the meters, they do an 84/85

          3  percent, and if we do something, maybe they can up

          4  to 90 and we're going to some other entity with an

          5  incentive, right? How does that work?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:

          7  ConEd's base bid price is $1.25 per read.  Anytime

          8  the exceed 90 percent per borough, they'll be paid

          9  $2.50 per read.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  For those that

         11  are beyond --

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:

         13  Beyond 90 percent, correct, councilman.

         14                 The liquidated  --  the penalties

         15  that they're subject to, if for any one point

         16  they're below any borough, it's $1,500 per month,

         17  per percent.

         18                 So, if they're down in Staten Island

         19  by five points, it's $7,500 in liquidated damages

         20  for that month.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I see.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:  And

         23  those are computed quarterly. That said, we want to

         24  try to make sure that we get to 90, and we would

         25  like to exceed 90, and some accounts because of the
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          2  layout, the location, they have not been read

          3  consistently.

          4                 The second contract that we're going

          5  to be bidding in February, is to chase down those

          6  additional leads, and to document whatever barriers

          7  exist to us obtaining those reads.  If the

          8  buildings' empty, it's gated, any number of things

          9  that would prevent us, that firm will document and

         10  be charged with doing an outreach to try to get a

         11  read with that homeowner.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.

         13                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  So we negotiated

         14  the ConEd, signed that agreement, we've written the

         15  specs for the difficult-to-read meters, we've

         16  written the specs for AMR, and we are negotiating a

         17  contract on that.

         18                 We did the changes at the call

         19  center, and the correspondence group.

         20                 We have done the in-house common

         21  sense changes to the bills and the late notices,

         22  including starting to change the way we notify

         23  people about spikes in use, and then we have done

         24  the other common sense things also, the DEOF

         25  matches, the more aggressive payment agreements, and

                                                            44

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  the cycle of three notices to get people to come in.

          3

          4                 The next stage is the consultant

          5  stage.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Yes, right,

          7  let's talk about that for a second because is Booze

          8  Allen currently on now? They're on now?

          9                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  They start in

         10  January.  We went out and we did--

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  They will start

         12  in January?

         13                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  Yes, we did one

         14  solicitation and we only got one proposal on it, and

         15  we were not comfortable with that.

         16                 So, we put out the RFP again and got

         17  more proposals, which we felt got us a better

         18  proposal, and now we have negotiated that contract,

         19  and they start in January.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.

         21                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  They will be, as

         22  I said, looking at the whole place top to bottom,

         23  but in particular, they will move quickly on the old

         24  accounts.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  How much is the
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          2  contract?

          3                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  I don't know the

          4  answer to that.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:  Just

          6  under a half a million dollars.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Pardon?  You

          8  have to speak into the microphone so it's recorded

          9  on the record.  Steve, go ahead.

         10                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS:

         11  It's approximately a half million dollars.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  A half million

         13  dollars, and what duration will this have?

         14                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS:

         15  The contract is, if we start in January, then the

         16  work will be done by the end of the fiscal year.  By

         17  the end of June.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Oh, six months,

         19  okay.               Right, if you start in January?

         20                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS:

         21  Yes, a little less than six months.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay, and now

         23  the  --  now ultimately, our target is 99 percent,

         24  right, ultimately?

         25                 Right now we're looking at 90 with
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          2  incentives to go over 90, right?  That's a fair way

          3  to put it?  And so, what is the road map to 99 look

          4  like?  How do we do that?

          5                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  I think we're

          6  looking to the consultant to identify additional

          7  ways for us to send customers better information to

          8  avoid and resolve disputes, and to send them better

          9  information about their late charges, and for us to

         10  have a more aggressive stance in terms of doing

         11  collections, reaching out to people when they do go

         12  into being late and trying to get them to pay, or

         13  come into a payment agreement.

         14                 At the end of the day, I think we all

         15  know that enforcement  --  all those cities that we

         16  talk about that are between 95 and 99 percent, do

         17  very aggressive enforcement, and that's something

         18  that is a critical part.

         19                 I mean, even being where we are has

         20  relied on the fact that we have had, even though

         21  it's fairly weak, it's been a diminishing value, the

         22  possibility of going to a lien sale, if people also

         23  had property tax, but that over the years has come

         24  down to being the last year  --  we only had 12

         25  percent as much lien sales as we had the first year.
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          2    So, and Finance was about the same track, so that

          3  has become a much weaker tool.

          4                 So, we will have to find more

          5  aggressive enforcement tools if we're going to reach

          6  those goals.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Now I'm sure

          8  that subsequent witnesses will testify to

          9  interesting encounters, and of course, as a

         10  councilman I get complaints which  --  I thought for

         11  sure we'd work it out but, the practices that you

         12  hear in the past saying, "Okay, I went to DEP, and

         13  they know that I don't owe this money because they

         14  admit to X, Y, and Z, but they want me to pay the

         15  money, and then only if I pay the money then I can

         16  get my money back once I pay it to them." And the

         17  question they ask me is, "If I don't owe this money,

         18  and I know that I don't owe it, and DEP knows that I

         19  don't owe it, why do I have to pay it just to get it

         20  back?" Things like that, these are the kinds of

         21  things that if you were in my shoes, that you hear a

         22  lot, so.

         23                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  Well, I think

         24  those are exactly the kinds of practices that --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Does that still
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          2  go on?  Why does that happen?

          3                 Yes, my staff is pointing out to me

          4  that one of my freelance questions are in line with

          5  the wise questions that they've put together, so I

          6  have to  --  let me do this one, and then we'll do

          7  that.  They're very smart, they're great.  I love

          8  them.

          9                 But where were we?

         10                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  I would assume

         11  that the answer to that is no, but Joe may give you

         12  a different answer.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Yes, go ahead.

         14  What with that?  Because I'm telling you, we get

         15  that, we get that from people that I know are being

         16  straightforward with me.

         17                 You've got to use the microphone,

         18  you're on your last warning from Nick, I'm telling

         19  you right now.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:

         21  Sorry, I got it.  I called him Angelo as well.

         22                 I think it's to try to keep customers

         23  as current as possible.

         24                 In other words, you do not want to

         25  encourage individuals to file complaints just to
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          2  avoid a bill.  So, the thought was when this was

          3  drafted that you didn't want to encourage just a

          4  random non-payment by people saying, "I have a

          5  dispute on a bill, therefore I'm not going to pay

          6  the bill."

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:  I do

          9  agree with you that the situation as it currently

         10  stands, where an individual has a billing dispute

         11  with us, and policy as well, we don't address it

         12  until it's paid, I veer away from that personally.

         13  I mean, I personally direct staff to look at

         14  difficult accounts when payments have not been made

         15  that you ought to resolve it as well, but as it

         16  stands now, that was the writing of the Board when

         17  that was done.

         18                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  But it is our

         19  policy and the policy of every city that I know of

         20  that you're required to pay your bill, whether or

         21  not you agree with it.

         22                 Then you can, if you have a dispute,

         23  you can carry out your dispute.  That's also true of

         24  Con Edison.  That's true of the phone company.  You

         25  can have the biggest dispute in the world, and you
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          2  pay your bill, or they off your phone.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right, but this

          4  is kind of the fall out of what happens when,

          5  unfortunately, historical inaccuracies in addresses

          6  and billing and this create situations where people

          7  have legitimate complaints against bills that they

          8  know they don't owe, and if they're of such a

          9  critical mass, sometimes the payment of such a bill

         10  is just like not a tenable thing for them, and they

         11  just end up digging themselves deeper, and how do we

         12  get out of that?

         13                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  We couldn't

         14  agree with you more, but we have to do that in a way

         15  the reflects sound policy, and a way of thinking it

         16  through that will hold up across the board, and

         17  that's why we're doing the work with the consultant

         18  to  --  first of all, I think it's very important

         19  that we get through these old outstanding bills, and

         20  decide which one of those are properly and

         21  appropriately collectible, and which ones really

         22  need to be resolved in some other way.  We need to

         23  do that, and what that resolution should be.

         24                 There are lots of ways you can do it,

         25  but we want to look at a variety of approaches that
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          2  we can recommend to the Water Board, and then I

          3  think that going forward, as you have fewer problems

          4  like that, a policy similar to other cities, and

          5  similar to utilities gets to make more sense.  That

          6  you pay your bill, and you are required to do that

          7  regardless, but you don't expect that you're going

          8  to have to pay, wait four years before you get a

          9  resolution, so it's not such a big issue.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay, let's

         11  talk a little bit about what's been done to enhance

         12  Joe's division, for lack of a better  --  what's it

         13  called?  What's it called, the division we're

         14  talking about here?

         15                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  Bureau of

         16  Customer Service.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Bureau of

         18  Customer Service. Since we began FY `07, certainly

         19  there's been a lot of brainwaves that have been

         20  directed at that Bureau, in terms of`we're going to

         21  do this differently, we're going to do this

         22  differently, we're going to have this person sit

         23  here, this person is going to do that,' and that's

         24  terrific because not everything is like a dollar and

         25  cents solution.
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          2                 You can't just throw money at the

          3  thing and expect it to get better automatically, but

          4  I think there has to be some combination of

          5  brainwaves combined with necessary resources to make

          6  it happen, and we talked about the $600,000 contract

          7  to Booze Allen, but what have we done  --  what has

          8  happened in terms of increased resources, increased

          9  technology purchases or whatever?

         10                 What investments in human resources,

         11  technology, whatever, have been made to the Bureau

         12  since the beginning of this fiscal year, if any?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:

         14  Investment is just what we've done on overtime.

         15                 The first thing we've done is, the

         16  Commissioner's authorized for me to spend whatever

         17  overtime I need to get certain operations squared

         18  away, and by that I mean, the call center.  Let's

         19  start there.  That operation is now opened to 8

         20  o'clock on Tuesdays and Thursdays, it's open all day

         21  Saturday. That costs us $300,000 with our lease with

         22  Liffrak (phonetic), it's running a couple of

         23  thousand a month in overtime.  Same thing with the

         24  inspectoral forces.  We allow them to work nights,

         25  to schedule night appointments, to schedule Saturday
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          2  appointments.

          3                 They other additional resource was

          4  the second "hard- to- access" contract.  That money

          5  came out from the savings. We had anticipated that

          6  ConEd would bid higher so that resource, that

          7  financial resource came available.  We decided to do

          8  this additional contract.

          9                 So, that's what we've done in the

         10  short term.  As far as head count, there's about 23

         11  more staff on board right now than there was.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Out of a total

         13  of what?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:  The

         15  authorized head count, full time, normal gross is

         16  533.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Five- thirty-

         18  three.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:

         20  There's 497 on board right now, 80 part-timers, and

         21  33 per diem's.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  So, there's

         23  533.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:  I've

         25  filled vacancies and I increased the amount of full-
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          2  timers and call-ins by about 23 from where we were

          3  last year.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay, so in

          5  terms of full time equivalents, whether they're

          6  full-time or a couple of part timers that make up a

          7  full-timers, what is the full-time equivalent

          8  approved, or whatever the word is, head count for

          9  the Bureau?

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:

         11  There's no official number of  -- it doesn't track

         12  like the full-time head count, so I've--

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Well, then

         14  let's just talk about the full-time head count.

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:  The

         16  full- time head count is 533.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Five hundred

         18  and thirty-three.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:

         20  That's the authorized number.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  And how many

         22  are on board now?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:  Four

         24  hundred and ninety- seven.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Four hundred
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          2  and ninety seven.

          3                 How comes there's not 533?  Because

          4  we put them on overtime, and people are--

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:  We're

          6  always hiring.  I'm not holding those vacancies.

          7  Those positions are posted.  We have a good amount

          8  of turnover in both clerical titles and spectorial

          9  (sic) titles, tech titles.  So, there is a constant

         10  chasing of attrition.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  What was the

         12  full-time headcount, authorized number in the

         13  previous fiscal year?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:  The

         15  authorized number I don't know, the actual number

         16  was 490-493 as of December of last year.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  So, it's about

         18  the same, it's about the same number of bodies?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:  It's

         20  about the same number full time bodies.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right, again,

         22  not to sound like someone who gratuitously wants to

         23  spend a lot of money just for the sake of doing

         24  that, but in the kind of grand scheme of DEP

         25  initiatives, in terms of the consulting contracts
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          2  that we enter into to look at like the Delaware

          3  Aqueduct leak, or to this or that, there's not a

          4  consulting contract out there that is like not a

          5  number like that, that's that big.  When it comes to

          6  capital money, you can't buy a valve for like a

          7  sewerage treatment plant that's not, you know, seven

          8  figures, and I would continue to urge the Department

          9  within certainly the bounds of fiscal prudence to be

         10  good to itself in terms of the resources that it

         11  believes it needs to slay this dragon, and because

         12  notwithstanding, all of the good work that has been

         13  done, the problems are going to continue to confound

         14  and sort of hound the agency and will, frankly,

         15  impede this institution's ability to engage the

         16  Department in a constructive dialog that's going to

         17  result in more effective collection measures.

         18                 So I would, not that I'm saying this

         19  is happening, but I would urge the Department not

         20  to, again, it's like we got a problem here, and a

         21  lot of money at stake, hundreds of million of

         22  dollars or whatever of uncollected things, but no

         23  real additional heads being brought on, a relatively

         24  small, by DEP's standards, consulting contract to

         25  help fix the problem.
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          2                 I think I speak for the members of

          3  this Committee, and I am happy to see that Oliver

          4  Koppell is here and Bill deBlasio who was just here,

          5  but we're looking for broad strokes. We're looking

          6  for bold measures that will speak to these problems

          7  that have gone on too long, notwithstanding your

          8  best effort. That would be my statement on that.

          9                 Did you wish to comment on that?

         10                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  Just that we

         11  agree with you, and very much appreciate your

         12  support on this.

         13                 I think that in the short term the

         14  ability to use overtime has been an effective tool,

         15  but that's only a short- term solution.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

         17                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  And we expect

         18  that our work with the consultant will yield a much

         19  more aggressive structure and recommendations about

         20  staffing, and how they should be deployed, that we

         21  will then be putting in our budget and certainly

         22  will be delighted to have support for it.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Will that be

         24  prepared in time for the`08 budget process?

         25                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  We will make
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          2  sure that it is.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Yes, because

          4  I'll  --  I said it at last years' budget, I'll say

          5  it six months earlier this time, that we want to be

          6  off constructive help in working with you to giving

          7  you the human resources, technical resources,

          8  consulting resources.

          9                 You need to tie this up in a bow

         10  because we  -- this is, to use the Mayor's phrase,

         11  unsustainable, and so, let me okay, yes, I recognize

         12  Council Member Melissa Mark-Viverito for her

         13  questions.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  Thank

         15  you, Mr. Chair, just wanted to jump right in.

         16                 Thank you Commissioner, I just wanted

         17  to jump right in to something that the Chair was

         18  touching on earlier with regards to the complaints,

         19  and if you could give us a sense of the number of

         20  billing complaints that DEP does receive on a yearly

         21  basis, maybe for the past two years, if you have

         22  information.

         23                 I don't know if that was touched on,

         24  I apologize for coming late, but as my Chair said,

         25  there's a lot of meetings happening at the same
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          2  time.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:  Thank

          4  you, council member.

          5                 The number of billing complaints that

          6  we received in Fiscal`05 was 14,400 approximately,

          7  and the year before was 13,900.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  So it

          9  is increasing, and what's the average amount of time

         10  that it takes DEP to, kind of, resolve or address

         11  the complaints, on average the length of time in

         12  terms of reaching a resolution or closing the case,

         13  so to speak?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:

         15  Right, well as the Commissioner had stated earlier,

         16  there may be several steps involved when a customer

         17  complains and to the first --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  I'm

         19  sorry, so touching on the 13,000-14,000, is that

         20  residential and commercial combined?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:  Yes,

         22  that is.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  Do you

         24  have a breakdown by residential?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:  Yes,
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          2  it's the percentage, and that's fairly constant from

          3  year to year.

          4                 The percentage of the total debt is

          5  residential, it has varied between 82 and 85 percent

          6  for total complaints over the last three years, and

          7  as Commissioner indicated earlier, depending on the

          8  difficulty of the account in terms of being able to

          9  resolve the problem, that it may involved a several

         10  step process.

         11                 The first step, which is the initial

         12  call or visit or written communication to customer

         13  service, we had last year at this time an average

         14  response time of approximately 73 days, and this

         15  year we've reduced that to about 43 days, that's

         16  about a 40 percent reduction in the turn- around

         17  time.

         18                 Some accounts are more difficult to

         19  research the problem, may involve a field visit, one

         20  or more field visits, but in terms of the initial

         21  contact and the initial response to the customer,

         22  the reduction response time has gone from 73 days

         23  last year to 43 days now.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  Here's

         25  my concern with that, and you were touching on that
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          2  earlier, Commissioner, with regards to well the

          3  processes that someone has to pay and then we deal

          4  with the problem, and then get it resolved, and when

          5  you are talking about in some cases, small

          6  homeowners, you know people very much on fixed

          7  incomes  --  some of these situations may be

          8  hundreds of dollars or thousands of dollars in terms

          9  of discrepancies or problems.

         10                 It is really putting the onus and the

         11  responsibility on the customer, whereas, it may be

         12  an issue in terms of the way you're operating or

         13  there may be a glitch on the end of the Agency, and

         14  putting that burden on the customer a lot of times

         15  could be, I think as the Chair was eluding to, a

         16  matter of, it could be really, mean serious economic

         17  hard times for certain people, and the implications

         18  of that, and I think that's something that we need

         19  to look at more carefully because if the

         20  responsibility is on the customer, then there really

         21  is not that additional pressure on us as a city to

         22  try to resolve this issue as quickly as possible.

         23                 If in the meantime, we were loosing

         24  thousands of dollars, hundreds of thousands of

         25  dollars in lost, in terms of having a complaint that
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          2  is filed, if there was some sort of having to put

          3  that on hold until it's resolved, I mean there might

          4  be some more pressure on us to kind of resolve these

          5  issues.

          6                 I understand your concerns on your

          7  end, I also want to look at it from the perspective

          8  of the customer, and what the implications may be

          9  for elderly homeowners, maybe that are very much on

         10  fixed incomes, and that may have a hardship.

         11                 Also when you talk about resolving a

         12  dispute, I mean I've had to deal with this.  I've

         13  had to deal with this on a personal issue.  Some of

         14  us don't have the time, the patience, to have to

         15  deal on hold an hour or have to call back three or

         16  four times, or have to file a complaint in writing,

         17  and wait for the response, or wait two months is

         18  what you are saying in terms of a resolution.

         19                 I mean, it's a real issue here.  I

         20  think is a very serious concern, I think for the

         21  average customer.

         22                 So, I know you've been kind of

         23  touching on that, and how to become more effective,

         24  how to try to resolve these issues and looking at

         25  policies and procedures, but I really do want to
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          2  voice the concerns of the customer here, and that's

          3  something that I think we need to look at more

          4  carefully.

          5                 Okay, so I think those are primarily

          6  my questions because you mentioned about having to

          7  pay, and then resolve, and that kind of got me

          8  going, but I don't know if you want to touch on any

          9  of that?

         10                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  Well, we'll be

         11  glad to look at other models for that.

         12                 We will  --  one of things we are

         13  doing is scanning what other cities do and what some

         14  utilities do, and we'll be glad to look for other

         15  models and see if there are other ways to do this

         16  that work for both sides.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you,

         18  thank you council member.

         19                 Council Member Koppell.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Thank you

         21  Mr. Chairman.

         22                 Last year when, I don't remember

         23  exactly the date, but when you did the last

         24  increase, I testified in the Bronx at the hearing,

         25  and one of the issues that we discussed at some
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          2  length was the fact that you don't, at least, turn

          3  off the water when people don't pay the bill.  I

          4  realize this is a little bit different direction

          5  then my colleague, or Council Member Mark- Viverito,

          6  but on the other hand, when people don't pay the

          7  bill, and you only have about a 90 percent

          8  collection rate as I see by the papers we have in

          9  front of us, that costs everybody else money because

         10  they then are paying for people who aren't paying,

         11  and I know the utilities have a high rate of

         12  collection because they can turn off the service if

         13  the bill isn't paid.

         14                 While obviously we don't want the

         15  service turned off if someone has a legitimate

         16  dispute, we also want people to pay their bills.

         17                 So, I'm just wondering why we can't

         18  develop a system where you could actually terminate

         19  the supply if someone didn't pay.  There could be

         20  safeguards.

         21                 When I was in Albany, I passed a law

         22  which is still a law called the`Public Utility Fair

         23  Practice's Act,' and that provided certain

         24  safeguards in turning off people's electricity or

         25  gas, and before that bill passed, people actually
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          2  froze to death in the winter, which is something we

          3  don't want to see.  But since that bill has passed,

          4  I don't believe anybody's frozen to death because

          5  you can build in safeguards so that you don't turn

          6  it off until  --  I think actually, if you want to

          7  turn it off someone's utility, actually right now,

          8  you can't turn off gas or electric during the winter

          9  at all, and the rule is, before you can turn it off

         10  you have to visit the home and things like that.

         11                 You can do something similar with

         12  water, although water probably isn't quite as

         13  important as gas and electric in the winter, but

         14  it's still very important.

         15                 So, I'm not suggesting we shouldn't

         16  have safeguards, but I think we should have a system

         17  where ultimately if you don't pay, you don't get the

         18  water, and could you explain why you can't do that?

         19                 Or what we might do to enable you to

         20  do that?

         21                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  There have been

         22  a couple of things that have, I think, been

         23  impediments to that.

         24                 We do do service suspensions, but we

         25  do them in small numbers, and we don't do them
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          2  between, I believe it's November or October and

          3  April, and we do also have to do a visit to the

          4  house to make sure that a whole bunch of categories

          5  of possible problems are not  --  do not present

          6  themselves.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  I'm glad you

          8  do that even though you weren't subject of that law

          9  that I passed 20 years ago.

         10                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  It was a good

         11  idea.

         12                 But I think that historically one of

         13  the big issues has been that so many buildings in

         14  New York City have tenants. It's not only the Tax

         15  Class, it's apartment buildings, but so many of Tax

         16  Class 1 are 2- and 3- family homes, and the tenants,

         17  at least traditionally in New York City, have  --

         18  there's been a strong feeling to try to protect them

         19  from the mis-deeds of the landlord.

         20                 So, turning off a building with one

         21  of more tenants, because the landlord hasn't paid,

         22  has seemed to be something that was not the best

         23  approach.

         24                 Our feeling has been that a better

         25  approach then is a lien sale, which doesn't cause
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          2  any hardship for the tenant, but certainly is just

          3  as motivating for the owner of the building.

          4                 I think more recently in past years,

          5  it has been because the Department, also in part,

          6  because the Department has been carrying this slug

          7  of very old accounts that, many of which, have very

          8  complicated  history's with them, and it's been hard

          9  to resolve exactly what the status of those are, but

         10  I believe that in the long run we do need both to

         11  really fix our customer service to resolve those old

         12  accounts as quickly as possible, and then to go to

         13  more aggressive enforcement like every other city in

         14  the country.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  I appreciate

         16  that response.  I think it's a much better response

         17  than the one I got in the Bronx from your

         18  subordinates, but I  --  there are a couple of

         19  things.

         20                 First of all, even in a multiple

         21  dwelling you can cut off ConEd as long as you give

         22  the tenants the option of paying the bill.  So, even

         23  in a multiple dwelling you can do it, also I think

         24  we are increasing the amount of sub- metering that

         25  we're doing.  So, more and more people are
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          2  individually metered. Where it's individually

          3  metered, then that isn't an issue, and I would

          4  strongly recommend that with proper safeguards you

          5  embark on a system on cutting people off because if

          6  you cut people off, they're going to pay the bill.

          7                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  My staff wants

          8  me to clarify that the residential shut- offs that

          9  we do now are because there are unchecked leaks that

         10  are external to the building causing problems, not

         11  because of non- payment right now.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  But could

         13  you do it for non- payment?

         14                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  We could do it

         15  for non payment.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Well, that

         17  frankly would be my recommendation with the proper

         18  safeguards that you and I have been discussing.

         19                 I think we ought to move into that

         20  system.  There are plenty of safeguards that would

         21  prevent its  --  I mean we can't promise everybody's

         22  going to be protected but I think if you have a

         23  legitimate gripe with the bill, you have to file.

         24  If you file, you have an objection or a concern with

         25  the bill, that has to get resolved before you turn
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          2  it off but turn- offs, I think, is the way to go,

          3  and I say that on behalf of the 90 percent of the

          4  people who do pay their bills.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you,

          6  Council Member Koppell.

          7                 Just a follow up on what Council

          8  Member Koppell was asking or his statement regarding

          9  those that are sub-metered for water use, just the

         10  existence of like a sub-metering apparatus doesn't

         11  mean that DEP can selectively shut-off to just that

         12  meter, right?

         13                 Explain that to me because people may

         14  be paying separately but there's kind of like one

         15  feed or whatever it is, right?  Is that fair to say?

         16                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  That's correct.

         17  It has to be done manually, unlike electricity, you

         18  have to go and actually turn a valve and in the

         19  case--

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  The value that

         21  would feed to that particular meter?

         22                 So it would be at sort of like the

         23  property rather than from the service connection

         24  from the main.

         25                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  If it was for
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          2  the whole building, the service connection would be

          3  in the street, and it was for a particular

          4  apartment, presumably it would be some place in the

          5  building.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right, not that

          7  I'm actually at this moment with the level of

          8  inaccuracy that's still has to be rectified,

          9  advocating for shut-offs, and it would appear that

         10  DEP would support that view by virtue of the fact

         11  that you don't do them now for residential, sort of,

         12  non- payment.

         13                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD: I continue to

         14  feel that multi- family dwellings, apartment

         15  buildings, are complicated to do, and so I have real

         16  concerns about that.  There is--

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  But you

         18  currently don't shut off for single-family homes

         19  either?

         20                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  No, we don't,

         21  and I think that's quite a different proposition.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Now for

         23  commercial, that's a different story?

         24                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  We do shut-offs.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  We also have

          3  stand-alone liens.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Oh yes, right,

          5  okay.

          6                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  And a much

          7  higher rate of payment.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  There you have

          9  it.  Yes, there you have it.

         10                 Now, let me just get back to the

         11  issue of staffing.

         12                 Is there currently now a goal and a

         13  timetable for fully staffing up the 533?

         14                 Is that something that you have a

         15  goal and a timetable to accomplish?

         16                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  Well, I actually

         17  have to admit, it wasn't aware that we had head

         18  count, that wasn't staffed at this point, although

         19  hiring is not always easy.  But certainly, I think

         20  that part of the  --  some of it is about whether

         21  those positions are the right positions, whether

         22  they're the jobs you end up actually wanting.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  But I

         24  understand.

         25                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  But do we want
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          2  to hire more people?  Yes, yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  But I used to

          4  work for OMB and they don't throw head count around

          5  like nothing, and so, you have to like fight for

          6  every head.

          7                 So, OMB in its wisdom believes that

          8  533 is like okay with you, which I used to work for

          9  OMB so, if 533 is what they say is okay, 599 sounds

         10  good to me, or whatever because you know how they

         11  are, and I don't mean that pejoratively but you

         12  know, it is what it is, and so, if OMB in its wisdom

         13  believes that 533 is what they'll let you do, I

         14  think there should be a concerted effort to get

         15  them, and I don't know as though  --  do we have to

         16  wait for Booze Allen for that?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:  No,

         18  two- part answer.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:  We're

         21  trying to hire to the 533 for right now.

         22                 Positions are posted, they're in

         23  process on the vast majority of those vacancies.  I

         24  believe we're going to need more than 533 starting

         25  next fiscal year.  We're going to need it in the
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          2  call center, we're going to need it in

          3  correspondence, and we're going to need it in field

          4  support.

          5                 We're also going to need OTPS support

          6  for the hard-to-access contract when we annualize

          7  that into`08.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay, okay,

          9  this is fine. So, between now and the end of the

         10  Fiscal Year, we're going for the 533, and then the

         11  end of Fiscal Year, we're going to talk about new

         12  needs, okay.

         13                 What is your goal for addressing, and

         14  the timetable for achieving this goal, for

         15  addressing the $230 million, sort of, greater than

         16  two-year-old debt, which was in your statement?

         17                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  I think that the

         18  debt at every stage of being aged out really needs

         19  to be resolved. Anything more than two years we need

         20  to have much more aggressive policies to either

         21  collect, or to find some other resolution for that,

         22  and that is something that we are looking to work

         23  with Booze Allen to come up with the right

         24  strategies for that, and that obviously is something

         25  we would have to work with our colleagues at the
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          2  Water Finance Board with to make sure that it met

          3  their requirements.  But, I think that everybody

          4  concurs that this is something we want to do,

          5  clearing that debt one way or another--

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

          7                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD: -- is in the best

          8  interest of the Agency.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Now, when you

         10  bring Booze Allen on, and of course, I'm not privy

         11  to what the RFP said, or what their contract reads,

         12  but you presented what you believe your needs or

         13  goals are or whatever, and they're going to try to

         14  get you there?

         15                 Or are they there to try to tell you

         16  what some of your goals ought to be or what's that

         17  like because it seems like you've got to give them

         18  something.

         19                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  Their scope of

         20  work is to  -- they know that, they know what our

         21  diagnosis of the problem is, and the general goals

         22  that I outlined today, that these are the areas that

         23  we think we need to address.

         24                 So, they are charged with doing that,

         25  but there is also very much an open door for them to
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          2  raise other issues, and one of the things we

          3  particularly want them to do is bring to us the best

          4  thinking in terms of how this kind of work is being

          5  done in all kinds of different settings, so that we

          6  provide the best customer service possible, that we

          7  use technology to support that, and that we find the

          8  right balance between, especially in terms of old

          9  debt between collection.

         10                 We obviously want to bring in as much

         11  money that we feel we are really owed is possible,

         12  but at the same time, we really want to clear out

         13  those older cases because they only get more

         14  difficult over time.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay, and

         16  what's your goal and timetable for addressing the

         17  less than two- year- old debt, which by your

         18  statement is estimated at $400 million?

         19                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  Well, I'm sorry,

         20  as I said, that includes anyone that's more than 30

         21  days, and most people pay  --  most customers pay

         22  within two cycles, and I think it's 95 percent or

         23  close to that, pay within a year.

         24                 So, we would like to get in terms of

         25  debt up to a year, we would like really to get that
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          2  in more quickly, and since those are people who are

          3  planning to pay anyway, I'm of the mind but I really

          4  want to be advised by or hear what Booze Allen has

          5  to say as well that better outreach, better customer

          6  service, clearer bills, if they have any dispute or

          7  concern, getting someone on the phone or out there

          8  to help them more quickly is going to accelerate

          9  that payment.

         10                 I think that the conventional wisdom

         11  of the industry that does water and other kinds of

         12  services like that is, beyond a year, you're

         13  starting to have someone who's likely to turn into a

         14  stubborn non- payer.

         15                 So, I think whatever  --  I think on

         16  those, we really want to be very aggressive, but I

         17  don't have in my mind yet the exact way we would

         18  triage this, and what exactly we'd do with 30 days,

         19  60 days, 90 days.  I think that we want to get that

         20  out of this work.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  It would seem

         22  that there's some blurring of the distinction

         23  between a goal, a place where you want to be, and a

         24  strategy to, sort of, get to that goal, and it seems

         25  like what we've been talking about are strategies
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          2  to, sort of, get to I guess as yes undefined goals.

          3                 I mean, undefined, a goal would be,

          4  we've got $230 million in old debt, we want to cut

          5  it by half, in X, Y, Z time, cut it by 75 percent in

          6  some other time- delta between than and then, and

          7  then finish it off or get it to the lowest it can

          8  possibly be by  --  that to me is a gaol, and then

          9  you can talk about like how are you going to get

         10  there?

         11                 But, do you have the wherewithal now

         12  or the ability to, sort of, crystallize in your mind

         13  like what the goals are that you want to get in

         14  terms of the dollar amount and the timetable?

         15                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  No because--

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  And then you

         17  tell Booze Allen, give me that road map.

         18                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  The problem that

         19  we have is some of that old debt is so complicated.

         20                 We really think that they need to, at

         21  least, get a fix on a good sample of that to tell us

         22  what we've got there, and that that would really

         23  dictate how  --  the best way to resolve it, and

         24  over what period of time, how long it might take us

         25  to do that.
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          2                 If they tell us we can do it in 30

          3  days, I like to do it in 30 days.  But I don't know

          4  that yet.  I think we have to work with them to

          5  establish the timetables for this.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay, and when

          7  was the last time, Joe, that you were over 500

          8  heads?

          9                 Has that ever happened?  Have you

         10  been over 500 heads?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:  Well,

         12  I've only been there for six months.  So, I'd have

         13  to go back and look at the historical record.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right, but I

         15  mean since you've been there?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:  With

         17  part- times and per diem's, I'm over 500 heads, and

         18  those part- time/per diem individuals work  --  they

         19  work close to 35 hours a week.

         20                 So, they're essentially full-time

         21  staff, even though they're characterized as

         22  part-time or as per diem, they're allowed to work

         23  close to a 35 hour week.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.  Do you

         25  get the same performance out of them as full-time
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          2  heads? Or is there more turn over in that category?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:  We

          4  like to start individuals as part-timers, see how

          5  they work out, and then move them up through the

          6  ranks.  It's a motivation to become a full-time

          7  employee.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay, and like

          9  I said, going back a couple of years when you

         10  originally did  --  we had this initiative that your

         11  folks and Jim Trip and the Water Board people for

         12  this, sort of, low three percent rate, three percent

         13  water hike coupled with this extra $50 million debt

         14  collection strategy which didn't exactly manifest

         15  that year, and so it was scaled down to a $15

         16  million number. Is there a goal to, sort of, revive

         17  that extra $50 million per year?

         18                 Or are we leaving it at $15 million,

         19  or what are we doing with that particular goal?

         20                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  I think that's

         21  really going to depend on the work that we do, and

         22  what we think the collection rate can be.

         23                 The efforts that Joe has made this

         24  year have been very productive obviously in terms of

         25  revenue generation, but there are a lot of different
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          2  factors that go into that mix in terms of how we're

          3  able to bring money in.

          4                 Sometimes we have unanticipated dips

          5  in something that we think is going to generate a

          6  lot of money and activity, and sometimes we have

          7  bubbles that are windfalls, such as the tremendous

          8  number of re- financing's that went on.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

         10                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  But I know that

         11  OMB is going to be pressing us for that goal, and we

         12  certainly will be looking to set a more aggressive

         13  goal for what we bring in because we think that it's

         14  very important that we capture those revenues and

         15  get them in for reasons of, both because we need the

         16  money and for reasons of equity.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Why don't we

         18  just like re-commit to that goal right now?  Why

         19  don't we just do that?  I mean --

         20                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  I would

         21  certainly re-commit to reviewing it with OMB with

         22  your recommendation.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  That's fine,

         24  but in all candor, it's like we're looking for bolts

         25  jokes here.  We need, sort of, the maximum
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          2  overdrive, ultimate, whatever you got, in that it's,

          3  it's going to be very, very difficult for this

          4  institution to, sort of, grant bigger and more

          5  aggressive tools.

          6                 It just is, you know that, and we

          7  have the, again, we don't get calls from

          8  constituents saying, I got my water bill, it looks

          9  reasonable, it's in a nice-looking envelope.  I paid

         10  the bill councilman, life is good.  Just want to

         11  check in and make sure like your office is okay.

         12                 I don't get those calls.  You know

         13  what I mean?

         14                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  We don't get

         15  those either.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right, nobody

         17  gets those calls.

         18                 I get the calls from  --  I have my

         19  own constituents that come to me, and then Council

         20  members that come to me with  --  and it has been,

         21  and the inefficiencies, the things that

         22  unfortunately still exist, notwithstanding people's

         23  efforts are, of course, what gets the attention and

         24  drives down confidence in the system, and we just

         25  don't need that.
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          2                 So, little things like commitment to

          3  the $50 million, a commitment from Joe to get the

          4  533 heads, detailed new needs initiative, something.

          5                 Any kind of caffeine we can throw at

          6  this problem, you know, would be greatly

          7  appreciated.

          8                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  I have no

          9  reluctance committing Joe to the head  --   to

         10  reaching the head count because I know he wants to

         11  do it, and there's no reason not to do it even

         12  though it's not always easy to hire people, and I

         13  have no reluctance at all to commit to come back to

         14  you in the spring with a package that we will be

         15  requesting as part of our budget to carry out,

         16  because when we don't know what our enforcement

         17  tools are going to be I think is difficult.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I had hoped that

         19  six months ago when we had the budget hearing, and

         20  this was following on from memos going back to early

         21  2005, and my letter of May of `06, that we needed a

         22  real comprehensive plan.

         23                 It was our hope, and easy for me to

         24  say, I don't work in the Agency, and have to endure

         25  all the stuff myself, but it was our hope that today
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          2  would be the day when we would see, sort of like,

          3  the ultimate, comprehensive plan  -- here it is.   Not

          4  that there hasn't been progress made, we've got the

          5  low- hanging fruit, like the stage zero stuff done,

          6  which made a lot of sense, and has reaped a lot of

          7  benefit, but we still  --  you've got to do the RFP,

          8  you send it out, you don't get good responses, you

          9  got to go out again, get it back, but you know,

         10  we're here at a situation six months later where we

         11  don't have like the plan, this is it, you can hold

         12  it up and look at it, and this is our plan, and

         13  we're going to plan our work, we're going work our

         14  plan, and this is when we're going to arrive at our

         15  target.  You know, Booze Allen is like not even here

         16  yet.

         17                 So, time is fleeting.  We're going to

         18  be talking about water rates in a couple of months,

         19  and here we go again.              So, I would  --

         20  and I don't know what I'm quite asking for here.

         21                 I know what the last hearing I said,

         22  "Okay, well, we'll get together," at the budget

         23  hearing I said, "Okay, well, we'll get together in

         24  six months and take a look at this issue, and we'll

         25  take a look at the plan at that point and see if
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          2  we're satisfied with it," and now we don't have the

          3  plan.

          4                 We have what will ultimately become a

          5  plan by virtue of the presence of Booze Allen and

          6  some of the other things that we're doing, and I

          7  don't think I'm going to wait until the next  --

          8  until the water rates in the spring, or the budget

          9  cycle in the late spring to  --  we're going to be

         10  doing more follow up because we've got to get the

         11  heads in place.

         12                 Joe himself said that ultimately,

         13  he's going to need more than 533, whatever, but we

         14  needed it yesterday.

         15                 So, the faster the better.  We

         16  totally understand each other, and with that said,

         17  let me thank you for being here. Thank you for the

         18  candid, honest, open relationship that we enjoy,

         19  this Council and your Department, and me and you,

         20  and everything.  But, to be continued.

         21                 Thank you, Emily, for bringing your

         22  team down, and we appreciate your views and your

         23  being here today.

         24                 So, we're going to take just a couple

         25  of minute recess, and we'll reconvene in just a few
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          2  minutes.

          3                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD:  Thank you,

          4  council member.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  We're going to

          6  call a panel, Jack Freund, a good friend from RSA,

          7  Patrick Soconolfi, Alan Rothschild, and Michael

          8  Lockhard.

          9                 Okay, we're all in a panel.  Michael

         10  your on.  So Patrick's not here.  So, it's going to

         11  be Jack, Alan and Michael.

         12                 I'd like to point out for the record

         13  that Joe Singleton in true Joe form is, sort of,

         14  staying behind to hear the testimony, which is

         15  greatly appreciated.

         16                 Okay, Donna is going to provide the

         17  oath thing, and then we can talk.

         18                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE:  Please

         19  raise your right hand.

         20                 In the testimony that you are about

         21  give, do you swear or affirm to tell the truth, the

         22  whole truth, and nothing but the truth?

         23                 MR. ROTHSCHILD:  I do.

         24                 MR. FREUND:  I do.

         25                 MR. LOCKHARD:  I do.
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          2                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE:  Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay, Alan it

          4  looks like you're roaring to go there.

          5                 Why don't you start?

          6                 MR. ROTHSCHILD:  Good afternoon

          7  Councilman Gennaro and audience.

          8                 My name is Alan Rothschild, and I am

          9  here in a dual capacity.

         10                 Primarily I am representing CHIP, The

         11  Community Housing Improvement Program, a group

         12  comprised of hundreds of owners of small to medium-

         13  sized buildings, buy I also speak from a unique

         14  perspective of not only being a building owner in

         15  New York City, but also as President of Vantage

         16  Group, a company that assists other building owners

         17  in managing their water costs, largely through use

         18  of Automatic Meter Reading.

         19                 In this capacity, we are in the

         20  unique position of seeing literally hundreds of DEP

         21  accounts every single month.  We are, therefore,

         22  well aware of the problems DEP is having with bill

         23  accuracy and collections, and we think we know how

         24  to help resolve a large percentage of those

         25  problems.
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          2                 First, I want to say that CHIP

          3  members have seen a change in DEP under the

          4  administration of new Deputy Commissioner Joe

          5  Singleton, and it has been a positive change.

          6                 The prior administration had

          7  forgotten that DEP is essentially a public service

          8  agency.  DEP had become arrogant and aloof, and had

          9  developed an insatiable mercenary attitude that made

         10  it seem more like a greedy monopolistic business,

         11  rather than an agency of New York City government.

         12                 The prior administration seemed more

         13  intent on billing the customers as much as possible,

         14  even when there were obvious mistakes, errors, and

         15  inequities in the bills.

         16                 This greed had a negative effect in

         17  that it turned the DEP/Customer relationship into an

         18  adversarial one.

         19                 There has been a change in DEP under

         20  Joe Singleton's leadership, and again, we say this

         21  from the unique perspective of dealing with hundreds

         22  of DEP accounts every month, and speaking to DEP

         23  billing personnel on a daily basis.

         24                 Since Joe took over, most DEP

         25  personnel are notably more cooperative and efficient
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          2  in trying to resolve billing issues.  We believe the

          3  wait for the general information system has

          4  decreased significantly also.  We seem to get the

          5  account issues of our clients resolved a bit more

          6  quickly.

          7                 Joe himself has been very helpful and

          8  accessible, the polar opposite of his predecessor.

          9  He responds to e- mails, correspondence and phone

         10  calls, and seems genuinely concerned with resolving

         11  customer issues promptly and equitably.

         12                 But Joe Singleton and DEP need help,

         13  and from our perspective of viewing hundreds of

         14  account each month, here are the most important

         15  issues that we think need to be addressed, and our

         16  suggestions for getting them resolved.

         17                 Number one is, repair meters quickly.

         18    We have more than 800 accounts on line with our

         19  Automatic Meter Reading equipment.  We have very,

         20  very few account problems.  But most of the problems

         21  we do have are caused by defective meters, meters

         22  that sometimes have been defective for many years.

         23                 We ask the City Council to help DEP

         24  find a way to repair defective meters more promptly.

         25  We believe at least half of the billing inaccuracies
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          2  would then be avoided and/or easily resolved.

          3                 Our second suggestion is to quickly

          4  enter repair/replacement data into the billing

          5  system.  Meter repair or replacement is meaningless

          6  if the final read on the old meter and the new meter

          7  info is not entered promptly into the system,

          8  sometimes it is not even entered at all.  Many times

          9  meter repair info is not entered for long periods of

         10  time, so estimated and possibly inequitable billing

         11  continues, erroneous bills result and account errors

         12  mount exponentially.

         13                 We ask the City Council to help DEP

         14  fund the necessary personnel additions or

         15  administrative methods to get meter repair data

         16  entered into the billing system promptly.  In

         17  concert with quicker meter repair, as previously

         18  mentioned, we believe this would further

         19  significantly reduce account errors to much more

         20  reasonable levels.

         21                 Our third suggestion is that DEP

         22  resolve billing issues in a more equitable manner.

         23  DEP needs to bite the bullet, so to speak, and try

         24  to resolve ongoing billing issues in some equitable

         25  manner and move on.
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          2                 Again, a problem created by the prior

          3  administration is that the billing for the last few

          4  years has been so hard- lined, greedy, and

          5  aggressive that it sometimes virtually destroys a

          6  building's finances.

          7                 We do not believe anyone should get

          8  free water, but there are situations where unfair

          9  DEP billing practices essentially force some

         10  buildings to refuse to pay.

         11                 Here is a perfect example.  DEP fails

         12  to repair a defective meter for four or five years,

         13  this happens more frequently than you might think.

         14  The water use was about say $40,000 per year, so

         15  when the meter breaks, DEP keeps billing estimated

         16  use at about $40,000 per year.

         17                 Meanwhile, the owner has no way to

         18  measure use and it begins to gradually sneak up to

         19  $50,000, then $60,000, then $75,000 per year.

         20  Again, the owner has no idea it is so high,

         21  remember, the meter is broken, and it is not the

         22  owners meter, it is DEP's meter and it is DEP's

         23  responsibility to maintain that meter.

         24                 Finally after four years, DEP gets

         25  around to fixing the meter, and it now shows us of
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          2  $80,000 per year.  They had been billing estimated

          3  charges of $40,000 on a meter they failed to repair.

          4    So now, they assume the use has been $80,000 the

          5  whole time, and they back- bill the building for

          6  four years for the $40,000 difference.

          7                 Do the math.  The owner now gets a

          8  bill for $160,000.  His actual use was probably only

          9  an average of maybe $60,000, and maybe it had

         10  actually only been $50,000 and then went to $80,000

         11  a few months before the meter was fixed.  Nobody

         12  really knows what the use was for those four years.

         13  Remember, the meter was broken, DEP's meter.

         14                 So the building gets a huge and

         15  unexpected bill for $160,000, money that is not in

         16  the budget.  Where are they supposed to get the

         17  money?  Money they might not even actually owe.

         18                 There are other cases where strange

         19  things happen with meters and with the DEP CIS

         20  billing system, things that really do make is almost

         21  impossible to know how much water a building really

         22  used, and how much they really should pay.

         23                 Situations like this need to be

         24  resolved in a more equitable and flexible manner.

         25                 So, we ask the City Council to
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          2  encourage DEP to develop methods to settle charges

          3  on accounts where there truly are significant

          4  uncertainties as to actual use.  We believe this

          5  would enable DEP to significantly reduce its backlog

          6  of delinquent accounts, and improve collections.

          7                 Finally, we also think that the City

          8  Council should give DEP some enforcement power.

          9                 Again we repeat, we do not believe

         10  that anyone should get water for free.  However,

         11  with the lack of confidence in DEP bill accuracy,

         12  and with the resultant lack of the availability of

         13  any enforcement actions such as lien sales or even

         14  service shut-offs, some property owners are not

         15  paying anything.

         16                 We think if our above suggestions are

         17  followed, that if DEP fixes meters more promptly,

         18  and is willing to resolve billing issues more

         19  reasonably, that New York City government should

         20  then also give DEP some power to enforce collection.

         21                 It is not fair that the vast majority

         22  of buildings that are paying for their water service

         23  should be forced to fund the expense of the few who

         24  are trying to cheat the system.

         25                 Owners should be required to pay some
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          2  equitable and reasonable amount during any bill

          3  dispute, not the full amount that they don't even

          4  owe, or they should face the real threat of serious

          5  enforcement action.

          6                 So we, therefore, urge the City

          7  Council to give DEP enforcement powers such as

          8  tenant rent deferral, lien sales, or even service

          9  shut- offs, when a bill is correct or reasonably

         10  adjusted, and there is no good faith payment.  We

         11  believe this would further enable DEP to

         12  significantly reduce its backlog of delinquent

         13  accounts and uncollected charges, and we believe it

         14  would make total non-payment much less likely.

         15                 In closing, I want to emphasize that

         16  Joe Singleton has a daunting and unenviable job.  He

         17  has inherited a City agency that had gone in a very

         18  bad direction, and like a huge ocean liner gone

         19  astray, it will take him some time to right its

         20  course.

         21                 But, our initial impression is that

         22  he is taking serious steps to improve DEP, and to

         23  make it more customer friendly, and more efficient.

         24                 As a building owner representative,

         25  let me say that virtually all building owners are
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          2  perfectly willing to pay their fair share of water

          3  costs, as long as they are confident DEP is billing

          4  correctly.

          5                 As a water cost management expert,

          6  who looks at hundreds of DEP accounts every month, I

          7  urge the City Council to support Mr. Singleton in

          8  helping him follow our suggestions above.

          9                 I truly believe our recommendations

         10  will help solve many of DEP's billing and collection

         11  problems.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you,

         14  Alan.

         15                 I'll save my comments on your

         16  statement, or whatever, until after we've heard from

         17  the panel.

         18                 Michael, did you have a statement

         19  Michael?  Okay, do you have a written statement to

         20  give out?

         21                 MR. LOCKHARD:  Not exactly.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay, it's

         23  okay.  I just wanted to know because if you had one

         24  I would follow it, but otherwise I'll just take off

         25  my glasses and listen.
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          2                 MR. LOCKHARD:  Okay, my name is

          3  Michael Lockhard. I am President of American

          4  Telephone Utility Consultants, a company that's been

          5  auditing utility bills since 1990.

          6                 I am also Founder and Chairman of the

          7  Coalition for Water Bill Justice, which is a

          8  grassroots organization that represents water

          9  customers, businesses, building owners and civic

         10  associations throughout New York City.

         11                 The coalition was established in

         12  April of 2000 to advocate for fair billing practices

         13  in New York City.

         14                 Before I begin, let me just say, I'm

         15  about to say a bunch of nasty things about Joe's

         16  agency.  The interaction that my employees have had

         17  with DEP and Joe since he's come on, is 180 degree

         18  different than what we've had with his predecessors.

         19    We were shocked.  We got a refund check for one of

         20  our clients within like seven or eight weeks after

         21  we filed the claim, quite different.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Oh yes, I just

         23  want to jump in for a second before you start in

         24  ernest to recognize that we've been joined by

         25  Domenic Recchia, a valued member of this committee
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          2  from Brooklyn, U.S.A.

          3                 MR. LOCKHARD:  So the policies that

          4  I'm about to talk about were in place before Joe

          5  came, and I'm hoping that he hears what I'm about to

          6  say, and maybe reverses some of these things.

          7                 So anyhow, the problem of billing

          8  errors and having to address these billing

          9  complaints has been notoriously plaguing DEP for

         10  decades.

         11                 In 1999, DEP and the Water Board

         12  hatched a plan to reduce the billing complaints.

         13  You see, the Water Board and DEP used to follow the

         14  New York State Public Service Commission standard or

         15  a six year statute of limitations for filing

         16  complaints on billing overcharges.

         17                 However in`99, they changed this to

         18  just two years.  Angry water customers took their

         19  fight to Albany and in 2001, Governor Pataki passed

         20  into a law a compromise bill that increased the

         21  grievance period to four years, which was a

         22  compromise because of heavy lobbying by the Giuliani

         23  Administration.

         24                 A shortened grievance period is

         25  unfair because billing errors can be difficult to

                                                            97

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  detect, and many customer don't even realize that

          3  they've been overcharged until an accountant or

          4  plumber has advised them, which may be too late.

          5  Billing overcharges can result from among other

          6  things, mathematical miscalculations, bills on non-

          7  existent meters, overlapping billing periods,

          8  overestimated bills on broken meters, and bills

          9  calculated just using incorrect rates, and often,

         10  water bill payments are deducted automatically from

         11  a customers bank account.  So in many cases, errors

         12  are not discovered until an account is closed years

         13  later.

         14                 New York City customers and

         15  businesses deserve the same rights to challenge

         16  overcharges on their water bills, as they do with

         17  their gas, electric and telephone bills.

         18                 Verizon, Con Edison, Key Span are all

         19  required to provide their customers up to six years

         20  to contest erroneous utility charges, so should DEP.

         21                 The Water Board has historically

         22  defended this abbreviated grievance policy by

         23  stating complaints are easier resolved if filed

         24  sooner rather than later.

         25                 Although this may be true, most old
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          2  errors can be resolved just as easily as recent

          3  errors.  In any event, it isn't fair to ever deny

          4  innocent consumers refunds they deserve simply

          5  because it's more difficult for DEP to resolve.

          6                 DEP should reduce billing complaints

          7  by reducing billing errors, not be prohibiting

          8  customers from making complaints within an arbitrary

          9  time period.  Restoring a six year grievance period

         10  is also important because it restores an incentive

         11  for DEP to issue bills accurately, initially.

         12                 Another way to restore an incentive

         13  is to provide interest on refunds to customers who

         14  have been overcharged. Currently, DEP charges

         15  interest on late payment charges at nine percent, if

         16  the customer underpays.

         17                 However, if that same customer is

         18  overcharged, DEP will keep that money for several

         19  months while it is processing a refund application,

         20  and when it finally provides that refund,

         21  historically again, sometimes a year or two later,

         22  it does so without any interest or compensation to

         23  the customer for the loss of interest they could

         24  have made on their money.

         25                 On the other hand, DEP get the profit
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          2  by overcharging its customers on the interest it

          3  makes on the float. This actually creates an

          4  incentive to overcharge customers and delay the

          5  processing of refunds.

          6                 Please keep in mind that, again, New

          7  York City customers of Verizon, Con Edison, Key Span

          8  and even the cable companies get interest on any

          9  refunds at the same rate those companies charge late

         10  payment charges.  It's an industry standard that,

         11  again, DEP does not comply with.

         12                 Providing interest to customers on

         13  overcharges would not only be equitable but would

         14  provide a strong incentive for them to reduce

         15  billing errors and correct them sooner.

         16                 In the past, DEP has historically

         17  shown resentment towards the industry of consultants

         18  who help customers to obtain refunds and billing

         19  reductions on their behalf.  It's probably because

         20  our existence and success was a reflection of DEP's

         21  failure to correct its problems.

         22                 When we help a client to recover its

         23  justly owed money, we are also profiting by it, too.

         24    Anyhow, one of the things that DEP has done to

         25  impede our industry is to hide several screens in
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          2  its computer system that we used to have access to.

          3  These screens called`Trigger Notes and Premises

          4  Order History' provide important information about

          5  meter readings, meter accuracy tests, and various

          6  other comments about searches for missing meters and

          7  incorrect meter multipliers. This Soviet- style of

          8  government censorship is extremely troubling.  I

          9  have heard the reason that it was a matter of

         10  security, and that if a customer service agent were

         11  to comment something such as`frail old lady, lives

         12  alone in the house, meters' next to the jewelry box

         13  in the basement' it could be used for mischief, but

         14  I don't believe it.  These are the same old

         15  arguments that government officials make when they

         16  object to open government policies.

         17                 Personally, I've never seen such

         18  comments such as this in the 800,000 accounts, and

         19  trust me, most information is a snooze of a read

         20  through.

         21                 Secondly, access to these screens is

         22  limited to a closed network of registered users of

         23  title search companies and consultants.  There are

         24  ten times as many DEP employees that have access to

         25  the same information.
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          2                 Instead, DEP employees should be

          3  trained not to record sensitive information.

          4                 In closing, there's a great need for

          5  this organization to do a self examination, and

          6  realize that it exists for the benefit of the

          7  consumer.  Until such time that DEP changes these

          8  unfair policies and practices that have been put in

          9  place in recent years, unfortunately legislation is

         10  needed to achieve these customer service

         11  improvements.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you,

         13  thank you Mike.

         14                 MR. LOCKHARD:  Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Jack.

         16                 MR. FREUND:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         17                 For the record, my name is Jack

         18  Freund.  I am Executive Vice President of the Rent

         19  Stabilization Association.

         20                 Mr. Chairman, I thank you for holding

         21  these oversight hearings, and providing an

         22  opportunity to testify on matters which have

         23  significant consequences for all New York residents.

         24

         25                 The Rent Stabilization Association
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          2  represents the owners and managers of approximately

          3  one million units of housing.  DEP's actions

          4  directly affect the continued viability of this

          5  housing, and its affordability for approximately

          6  three million residents.

          7                 With regard to DEP customer service

          8  and billing operations, under the leadership of

          9  Commissioner Lloyd and, specifically, Deputy

         10  Commissioner Joe Singleton, DEP has definitely

         11  become more accessible and responsive to customers

         12  needs.

         13                 I should add to this, that with the

         14  leadership of Councilman Gennaro who has, obviously,

         15  been instrumental in helping facilitate that.  I

         16  want to thank you for your involvement in these

         17  matters.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Sure.

         19                 MR. FREUND:  But as a result, a

         20  committee of housing industry representatives has

         21  been meeting regularly with Commissioner Singleton

         22  to address areas of concern including billing and

         23  programmatic issues.

         24                 Progress has been made on customer

         25  service issues.               What we hear from our
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          2  members confirms on what DEP reported before,

          3  current problems now are generally handled

          4  expeditiously and professionally.

          5                 It remains the case, however, that

          6  larger owners in our experience who have more

          7  resources have greater success

          8  in dealing with DEP billing issues than the typical,

          9  unsophisticated, small property owner, which is

         10  really the majority of owners in this city.

         11                 Unfortunately, a large number of

         12  DEP's collection cases are long standing account

         13  balance problems which we've heard about, and we

         14  believe these are completely intractable. These

         15  problem cases are so old and complex that they

         16  probably cannot be dealt with on a case by case

         17  basis within any reasonable time frame.

         18                 We are concerned about these

         19  outstanding cases for two reasons.

         20                 First, the majority of our members

         21  provide housing to low- income families who, for

         22  various socio-economic reasons, tend to have high

         23  water consumption.  Such buildings must remain on

         24  flat rate billing in order to survive financially.

         25  Yet, these buildings will be barred from flat rate
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          2  billing under the, yet to be fully implemented,

          3  Multi- Family Conservation Program, if they have

          4  outstanding balances.

          5                 Second, the large balances due from

          6  various city buildings, which might lead one to

          7  believe that increased collection enforcement is one

          8  way to reduce the need for future rate increases, we

          9  certainly believe that water and sewer costs should

         10  be paid when due.  To this end, we believe that

         11  DEP's efforts to find and bill accounts that have

         12  not been paid any charges for years is a productive

         13  approach which should be pursued.

         14                 On the other hand, we also know that

         15  many of the outstanding balances on existing

         16  accounts are wrong or overstated, and any reasonable

         17  settlement of these cases would result in much lower

         18  revenue than is shown on the books currently, and

         19  was discussed earlier.

         20                 We would strongly encourage a

         21  resolution for these outstanding balances similar to

         22  that recently offered to non profit owners.  These

         23  cases should be settled in a uniform manner to get

         24  some past balances collected, and get these

         25  properties back on a current paying basis so they
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          2  will be eligible for the program protections they

          3  need.

          4                 I just want to turn for a moment to

          5  the issue of rate increases and the need to look

          6  into the future at the prospect of close to double

          7  rate increases going out, and while that's not the

          8  particular topic of this meeting, I think it does

          9  blend into that, and in that regard, we would urge

         10  the Council to help find an alternative formulation

         11  for the current rental payments made to the City

         12  budget by water and sewer rate- payers.           When

         13  buying a house, we don't expect to continue making

         14  payments to the bank once the mortgage is paid up.

         15  Similarly, the water bond obligations which the

         16  rental payment was intended to cover have now been

         17  paid off, yet the rental payment continues and

         18  grows.  The current formula ensures that rate-

         19  payers will pay the City an ever growing annual rent

         20  payment.  There is no reasonable justification for

         21  this ongoing obligation which unnecessarily

         22  increases the need for large rate increases year

         23  after year.

         24                 There are other possible long- term

         25  cost saving measures that we'd ask you to look at.
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          2                 For instance, DEP's capital budget

          3  could be reduced by eliminating funding of City

          4  projects such as Parks which are not water and sewer

          5  related.

          6                 Another way to keep rate increases

          7  low is to fully bond out capital projects rather

          8  than paying for a portion of capital costs with

          9  current dollars.

         10                 So without getting into these things

         11  specifically, we hope that this Committee will not

         12  only continue its current oversight functions, but

         13  will extend it to encompass these other rate-

         14  related issues.

         15                 Thank you for your consideration.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you,

         17  Jack.

         18                 We're joined by Council Member

         19  Felder, who is an honorary member of this Committee,

         20  and has long been involved in water rate stuff,

         21  right?

         22                 That's a big thing with Simcha, as it

         23  is with many members.

         24                 Thank you for being here, Simcha.

         25                 Alan, I thought your testimony was
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          2  very enlightening with regard to the problem posed

          3  by defective meters, and I'm glad Joe and Mark is

          4  here as well.

          5                 I'll direct my comments to the

          6  representatives of DEP regarding new needs, or

          7  whatever we may need to expedite some of these meter

          8  repairs.  I mean I think this is all part of what

          9  we're trying to do here.

         10                 So, I'll continue to tell DEP to be

         11  good to themselves in the budget process, and if we

         12  need more money to expedite the repair of defective

         13  meters, they're going to eliminate problems, they're

         14  going to bring in more money, and we should do that.

         15

         16                 Also Alan, with respect to the

         17  automatic meter reading equipment, how does it work

         18  that you have automatic meter reading equipment?

         19  People can on their own do this or something? How

         20  does that work?

         21                 Because I know that it is something

         22  that DEP is ultimately going to endeavor to do, but

         23  I wasn't aware that it was in place for any

         24  individual customers now.

         25                 MR. ROTHSCHILD:  Right, there is a
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          2  device that DEP has approved in the past, that we

          3  have installed for lots of our clients.

          4                 We use it as a conservation and cost

          5  control tool. DEP gets the data also to use for

          6  billing purposes.  It makes the bills more accurate,

          7  and it enables us to check the DEP bills, and make

          8  sure that they're accurate, plus it enables us to

          9  tell clients when they have up- trends in water use

         10  before they get their bills that are unexpectedly

         11  high.  The big benefit of the system we use is that

         12  it reads the meter at very frequent intervals,

         13  hourly if we want it to.

         14                 So, anytime there's a problem with

         15  the bill, we don't have a read every three months,

         16  where sometimes we don't know what happened in the

         17  intervening three months, we can check every hour of

         18  that three month period, and see when that meter

         19  failed, or when there was backflow, or when

         20  something else happened.

         21                 So, we know exactly what the account

         22  error is.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right, I see.

         24                 MR. ROTHSCHILD:  We don't guess.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Now this is a
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          2   --  something that a lot of commercial clients use?

          3                 MR. ROTHSCHILD:  Our clients tend to

          4  be larger residential buildings and commercial

          5  buildings.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

          7                 MR. ROTHSCHILD:  It's particularly

          8  practical for them, but it applies to even small

          9  buildings.  We have buildings as small as eight or

         10  ten units with the device.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right, right.

         12                 MR. ROTHSCHILD:  Because an eight or

         13  ten unit building might have a annual water budget

         14  of $3,000 a year, for example.  One running toilet,

         15  Jim, is $3,000 a year.

         16                 So if that building has a running

         17  toilet somewhere in Mrs. O'Flarrity's apartment who

         18  went to Florida for the winter, they won't know it

         19  until the get a huge bill three months later.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

         21                 MR. ROTHSCHILD:  Then they'll spent

         22  six months arguing with DEP about the bill.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

         24                 MR. ROTHSCHILD:  With our equipment,

         25  we see that within a week or two.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  And this is, of

          3  course, equipment that you install, that you put in

          4  because you believe it's going to work for you?

          5                 MR. ROTHSCHILD:  We install, but DEP

          6  gives an incentive to the customer also.   DEP pays

          7  part of the installation cost, in some cases, all of

          8  it.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Oh, I see.

         10                 MR. ROTHSCHILD:  Because it benefits

         11  them, too. It gives them more accurate billing data.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Oh, okay.

         13  Well, we did that toilet thing a couple of years

         14  ago, why don't we  --  yes, we can do an incentive

         15  to  --  I know there's a lot in the pipeline for

         16  automatic meter reading.

         17                 I just want to take this opportunity

         18  to find out a little more about that.

         19                 MR. ROTHSCHILD:  Jim, while I'm

         20  speaking, again, the meter problem, I think a lot of

         21  those accounts that Joe has inherited with long-

         22  term non- payment issues, I believe a lot of that

         23  can be traced to meters that broke years ago, and

         24  owners got huge bills, and just refused to pay them,

         25  and DEP had no billing data to prove what happened
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          2  because the meter was broken.  It was largely

          3  estimated, and I think that's where a lot of the

          4  problem comes from.

          5                 That's why I emphasize that getting

          6  the meters fixed is, I believe, going to eliminate a

          7  lot of the DEP bill account error issues.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right, and DEP

          9  has, as you say in your statement  --  they fixed

         10  the meter or whatever, they get a sense of what the

         11  usage is, and then they extrapolate back but have no

         12  way of knowing whether that extrapolation is reality

         13  or--

         14                 MR. ROTHSCHILD:  Right, that meter

         15   --  the example I gave, that meter may have only

         16  been only using $40,000 a year until three or four

         17  months before the meter was repaired and suddenly

         18  jumped to $80,000.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

         20                 MR. ROTHSCHILD:  Nobody really knows,

         21  because the meter's been broke.  It the meter was

         22  fixed say within three months, you wouldn't have

         23  those issues.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  You know, I

         25  just want to direct staff that we should, again, I
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          2  can't ask DEP right now, they're not testifying, but

          3  to follow up with DEP on how that works, and Joe, if

          4  you can get us a little more information on how

          5  these kinds of situations are managed, that would

          6  help us, to understand what happens and how we may

          7  recommend changes.

          8                 MR. ROTHSCHILD:  Again Jim, this is a

          9  problem that Joe has inherited--

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

         11                 MR. ROTHSCHILD: -- that he's not

         12  responsible for.

         13                 There was a period of time, I think

         14  about two or three years ago, where there was

         15  actually no repair contract in place for, I think,

         16  close to a year.  Meters just sat broken.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

         18                 MR. ROTHSCHILD:  So then of course,

         19  when they finally put a contract in place, they que

         20  was very long for repairs.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Sure, sure.

         22                 Mike, if you could get us a copy of

         23  your testimony, that would be great because I think

         24  a lot of the things that you talk about in your

         25  statement are really like the domain of the Water
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          2  Board, right, with the six year, and four year, and

          3  two year all those policies are not crafted by DEP,

          4  aren't these things that have to be voted on by the

          5  Water Board?             Like the period of time

          6  that they can back- bill and all that?

          7                 Isn't that  --  or can DEP, do they

          8  have the ability to change that?

          9                 MR. LOCKHARD:  Historically, DEP has

         10  crafted these policies, presented them to the Water

         11  Board, and the--

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  But ultimately,

         13  it's an act of the Water Board that sets the four

         14  year, versus two year, versus eight year, versus

         15  this, versus that, all that, right?

         16                 MR. FREUND:  If I could jump here for

         17  a minute.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Sure.

         19                 MR. FREUND:  You're technically right

         20  that it is the Water Board, but I want to note that

         21  the Water Board recently passed two resolutions,

         22  which exempted  --  which essentially crafted

         23  exemptions from the four year rule.

         24                 Presumably those resolutions were

         25  prepared by
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          2  and passed upon advise of DEP staff, so that you

          3  kind of had an odd  --  as we know, the whole system

          4  is odd in a certain way.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Sure, sure,

          6  yes.

          7                 MR. FREUND:  But you have an odd

          8  system where you had a state legislative act that

          9  said,`four years is four years is four years,' and

         10  then DEP and the Water Board, collectively, came

         11  back and said,`except when it's not,' and crafted a

         12  few exceptions to that policy.

         13                 So, the answer is not as clear as it

         14  might be.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I see, I see.

         16                 MR. ROTHSCHILD:  Let me just add to

         17  that, the state policy, the state law, requires a

         18  minimum of four years.             So, DEP and the

         19  Water Board can always raise it. They can't make it

         20  less than four years.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I see, I see.

         22  Well, as

         23  we  --  just note to staff, as we sort of gird up

         24  for our normal tilt at the windmill, and we should

         25  load up the donkey with that particular  --  we

                                                            115

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  should put that on the donkey.

          3                 The Water Board being a state entity,

          4  doesn't really have to  --  okay, we all know that.

          5                 But certainly we can press the case,

          6  and I have some sway over DEP that has a lot to do

          7  with the Water Board and their policies.

          8                 So, please get that to us Michael,

          9  and we'll throw that on the donkey.

         10                 MR. LOCKHARD:  Sure.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Jack, yes, this

         12  is another thing that we have to deal with, with

         13  this whole rent payment thing, which is just totally

         14  getting out of control.

         15                 I know it's not really the subject

         16  for today's hearing but I'm glad you brought it up,

         17  and another note to staff that the rental agreement,

         18  and the portion of capital cost that gets paid with

         19  current dollars, what we call`pay as you go

         20  capital,' is something that has not escaped the

         21  attention of me and my staff, and we're with you on

         22  that as well, Jack.

         23                 So, this hearing is kind of having

         24  unintended consequence of getting us ready for the

         25  annual water fights, which is  --  so another good
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          2  thing that's coming out of this hearing.

          3                 I want to thank you guys for hanging

          4  around and being patient, to wait to testify.

          5                 We appreciate that, and we look

          6  forward to working with you on these, and other

          7  issues as we do water rates, as we do the budget,

          8  and as we move forward.

          9                 Thanks a lot.

         10                 Okay, we're going to do a final panel

         11  that we may be breaking the record for paneling, but

         12  maybe not all the people are still here.

         13                 It would be a five person panel,

         14  believe it or not.  We're going for the record here.

         15

         16                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  The record is

         17  six.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  The record is

         19  six, okay, we're going for a Committee record, okay.

         20                 Mark Schwartz from New York Water

         21  Management, Hershel Weiss from Ashokan, Ashokan like

         22  the reservoir?  Dov Vinar from the same company,

         23  okay, Mr. Or Ms. Lowtan, am I saying that right,

         24  first name from 756 Liberty Realty Corp.?  Donna

         25  Miele from Utilisave LLC, please.
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          2                 Okay, we're nowhere near a record

          3  but.

          4                 Thank you all for being here, thank

          5  you for your patience, if you have statements, give

          6  them to the sergeant, which you've done.  Donna will

          7  swear you in, and away we go.

          8                 Donna.

          9                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE:  Please

         10  raise your right hand.

         11                 In the testimony that you're about to

         12  give, do you swear or affirm to tell the truth, the

         13  whole truth, and nothing but the truth?

         14                 MS. MIELE:  I do.

         15                 MR. SCHWARTZ:  I do.

         16                 MR. VINAR:  I do.

         17                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE:  Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you very

         19  much.

         20                 Why don't we do ladies first, is that

         21  okay?

         22                 MS. MIELE:  I really just have a

         23  general statement to make.

         24                 I am a Vice President at Utilisave.

         25  I am here to also represent my CEO, Michael Kennon
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          2  (phonetic).

          3                 We've been in the utility auditing

          4  business for over 15 years.  We represent hundreds

          5  of clients, commercial clients primarily, and not-

          6  for- profit housing companies, universities, some of

          7  the largest hospitals and nursing homes in the City.

          8                 We have seen all types of billing

          9  errors, many of them are very clear- cut, such as

         10  double- billing, overlapping billing, billing for

         11  years for meters that no longer exist at the

         12  properties, billing for parking lots that used to

         13  have buildings on them.

         14                 Other issues are a lot more complex

         15  and require interpretation.  It is for this reason

         16  that we have tried to be mediators in resolving

         17  these billing issues between the DEP on behalf of

         18  our clients.

         19                 But over the years prior to Joe

         20  Singleton, many people in our industry have

         21  literally been ignored, and received really

         22  outrageous excuses for not making adjustments.

         23                 When you think about the situation

         24  with hospitals in this city, it really is affecting

         25  a part of this society. That's a critical part--
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Hospitals  --

          3  tell me about hospitals, you represent hospitals?

          4                 MS. MIELE:  We represent the

          5  hospitals.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.

          7                 MS. MIELE:  Just like they're are

          8  problems  -- the billing problems for residential

          9  customers also exist for commercial customers.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

         11                 MS. MIELE:  And when your commercial

         12  customers are hospitals and not- for- profit

         13  housing, or subsidized housing, it's literally

         14  affecting the quality of life for people in this

         15  city.

         16                 We have long- term relationships with

         17  our clients, and therefore, we have a lot of

         18  leverage, and one of the things we tried to position

         19  is being a mediator, is encouraging our clients to

         20  pay their water bills.  But it's hard to get them to

         21  pay water bills when they see obvious errors and

         22  they've been ignored over the years.

         23                 So, I encourage this Council to

         24  continue to give Joe Singleton and his team the

         25  resources.  He's Emily Lloyd's appointment, or
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          2  however the process is for getting Joe in there was

          3  the right thing to do.  He's moving in the right

          4  direction. I think he need a quality staff that can

          5  handle some of these complex issues, errors need to

          6  be adjusted quickly, particularly the obvious ones,

          7  and this will bring credibility back to the DEP that

          8  allows people in our industry to encourage customers

          9  to pay their bills.

         10                 So, I encourage you to give the

         11  resources to Joe. He's been  --  who said it,

         12  Michael, a 180 degree difference between what

         13  happened in the past.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you,

         16  thank you for your statement, and I'll have comments

         17  when everyone finishes.

         18                 First is Donna, and Dov, right?

         19                 Do you have a statement, Dov?  Okay.

         20                 MR. VINAR:  Good afternoon, my name

         21  is Dov Jacob Vinar.  I am General Counsel to Ashokan

         22  Services, which is a company that audits water

         23  bills, and seeks to correct errors to them and

         24  obtain credits.

         25                 Thank you for this opportunity to
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          2  speak.

          3                 Like everyone else, we've been very

          4  pleased with the current DEP administration.  It's

          5  definitely made progress over the previous

          6  administration in expediting customer service

          7  replies to customer billing complaints.  We're

          8  finding now that most bill challenges sent since the

          9  change in administration, are responded to within 90

         10  days, which is a Water Board rule, albeit, one that

         11  has no means of enforcement.

         12                 We do however, find there's still a

         13  hold- over sense within the DEP of an adversarial

         14  relationship to the customer.  There's a pervasive

         15  reluctance on the part of DEP personnel in many

         16  situations to find in favor of a customers' bill

         17  complaint, and this includes cases where to

         18  complaint is supported by the evidence, supported by

         19  the Water Board's own rules, and even just common

         20  sense.

         21                 There seem to be two reasons for

         22  this, in some cases one gets that it's deliberate.

         23  In a lot of cases, one gets sense that perhaps the

         24  staff do not fully understand the situation.  Their

         25  replies don't always seem to show a good grasp of
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          2  how the DEP's own billing system works, how a meter

          3  read system works.

          4                 We find in a lot of cases, when we

          5  get negative responses, if the DEP's decision relies

          6  on certain documentation, that documentation is not

          7  included with the reply.

          8                 We think it would be a good idea if

          9  that were done.  I think if would give an incentive

         10  to the person making the decision to make sure the

         11  decision if right because if the document with the

         12  information is right there and plain on its face,

         13  sometimes it prevents the errors.

         14                 I find in those cases where they

         15  don't provide the information, I wind up having to

         16  make a foil request.  When I get the document, the

         17  document says the opposite of what the decision

         18  said, but it slows things down.

         19                 Also, we find that we know that the

         20  DEP is having trouble collecting a lot of money from

         21  a lot of delinquent accounts, and the New York

         22  Times, of course, ran an article on the front page

         23  the other day discussing how difficult it is, and

         24  how a lot of aggrieved customers simply refuse to

         25  pay when they don't feel that they're getting
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          2  anywhere with the DEP, and we have some thoughts on

          3  how the system could be improved, both for the DEP

          4  and enable the DEP to collect, while also improving

          5  matters for their customers, and essentially

          6  cleaning up the caseload.

          7                 We understand that the DEP needs some

          8  tools for enforcing its bills.  We know the DEP

          9  would like its own power to sell liens.

         10                 However, we have found that where you

         11  give the DEP or probably any government agency, that

         12  kind of power without any kind of restraint, it

         13  tends to abuse it.  We've seen cases where liens

         14  have been sold, where there are blatant errors on

         15  the accounts, and then the liens have to be opened

         16  subsequently when an application is made.

         17                 We think that ultimately the DEP

         18  should have that power, but that power should be

         19  checked.  It should only have it provide that the

         20  DEP let an outside party with expertise in it's own

         21  billing systems, its own accounting systems,

         22  expertise in plumbing to review the account records

         23  very thoroughly, review the plumbing systems of the

         24  customer to expedite the  --  any bill dispute

         25  procedure because the customer would have the
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          2  account fixed up, it would have a written response

          3  to any complaint, and once everything is resolved,

          4  the DEP could enforce its bills with little

          5  obstacle.

          6                 That is essentially our idea, and

          7  thank you for this opportunity.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you,

          9  thank you, Sir. I appreciate your statement.

         10                 Mr. Schwartz.

         11                 MR. SCHWARTZ:  Good afternoon, my

         12  name is Mark Schwartz.

         13                 I am a Principle at New York Water

         14  Management, a Real Estate Management Consulting

         15  Company representing approximately 16,000 Block and

         16  Lots in the City of New York.

         17                 We represent these property owners

         18  for various agencies of the City of New York with a

         19  primary focus on Department of Finance and

         20  Department of Environmental Protection.

         21                 I began as a consultant working with

         22  clients in the New York City Toilet Rebate Program

         23  in 1995, and transitioned into Water Bill analysis

         24  in 1997.

         25                 There are several observations that I
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          2  would like to make today.

          3                 At the outset, I would commend Deputy

          4  Commissioner Singleton on the vast improvement in

          5  communications and correspondence between the DEP

          6  and its clients.

          7                 I attended a Board meeting on East

          8  79th Street this past Monday evening, which I had to

          9  explain how our firm was able to obtain a $50,000

         10  adjustment in only five weeks from the date our

         11  claim was filed.  The Board could not fathom how

         12  this review and adjustment had possibly only taken

         13  five weeks.  The staff that has been assigned to

         14  Correspondence and Account Maintenance Units are

         15  knowledgeable and efficient, and to that the New

         16  York City residents must say thank you.

         17                 I am, however, still puzzled,

         18  confused and amazed at certain ongoing issues, most

         19  which preceded Mr. Singleton's time, within Bureau

         20  of Customer Service.

         21                 The DEP rightfully implemented a

         22  required Letter of Authorization for Third Party

         23  firms, like myself.

         24                 However, over the last three years,

         25  the DEP has approached this requirement with a
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          2  vengeful attitude towards companies that attempt to

          3  expedite water bill reductions deserved by the end

          4  user.

          5                 Specifically, a Unit has been created

          6  to scrutinize every Letter of Authorization to

          7  ensure its authenticity to a level of absurdness.

          8                 While a Letter of authorization is

          9  not a light matter, our firm procures millions of

         10  dollars of refund checks per year, from the

         11  Department of Finance, for Real Estate property tax

         12  refunds with far less red tape.

         13                 I have had claims revoked because the

         14  Notary public commissions have expired even though

         15  they were valid at the time the forms were executed.

         16    Black ink was used on these forms that gave the

         17  image of the letter possibly being a photocopy, and

         18  that was returned and the claim denied.  The

         19  management company address had the wrong floor

         20  number on it, it was rejected.

         21                 Folks, make the adjustment.  Cut the

         22  red tape that the City of New York has tried so hard

         23  to do over the last decade.

         24                 My second concern is the appeals

         25  process.  The Appeals process in this country is a
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          2  right that all government, local, federal, state,

          3  everyone cherishes.  It allows for a decision to be

          4  reviewed by additional parties, and not the parties

          5  of the original decision- making body.

          6                 Sadly, this process has been horribly

          7  abused and in effect deleted from the DEP.

          8                 Bottom line there is no true appeals

          9  process at this time.

         10                 Initial claims when denied by the

         11  Bureau representative are approved by a supervisor.

         12  The same supervisor frequently, if not always,

         13  reviews the Initial Appeal by the Deputy

         14  Commissioner.

         15                 Over the last seven years, since

         16  Lawrence Shatt's departure as the Deputy

         17  Commissioner, there's rarely been a fair and

         18  equitable review of our appeals.

         19                 Of the hundreds of appeals written

         20  over the last year, I can recall maybe one which we

         21  won.  After $102 million of water bill adjustments

         22  by my firm since 1997, I do not think I was wrong on

         23  every appeal.

         24                 On a final appeal basis, if you can

         25  even get a response in under a year, not only will
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          2  the claim be reviewed with the Deputy Commissioner,

          3  and the same supervisor who denied the first two

          4  level, but also the reasons for the denial are so

          5  off that you wonder if they're stating rules from

          6  another municipality or another country.

          7                 In other cases, they just restate the

          8  reply of the Deputy Commissioner and do not address

          9  the new question that were raised in the Final

         10  Appeal.

         11                 Of the hundreds of appeals written in

         12  the last six years, Final Appeals, we were

         13  victorious in one situation in 2002, Block 1527, Lot

         14  7502 in Queens, and that was only after calling

         15  every known member of that Water Board to argue the

         16  absurd answer that was originally given.

         17                 Who looses from this?  Small end

         18  users as the only other avenue of intervention is a

         19  costly Article 78 proceeding, that unless the

         20  reduction merits the filing and legal fees, they

         21  have no choice but to pay the erroneous bill.

         22                 Our last concern at this time is the

         23  issue of the Tax Lien Sale.

         24                 The yearly tax lien generates million

         25  of dollars to the City of New York, and a tremendous

                                                            129

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  volume of calls to or office.  Yet unless real

          3  estate taxes are due and not immediately paid, there

          4  is not requirement or need for the owner to pay his

          5  water bill.

          6                 Mr. Councilman, I urge you to put

          7  teeth into the tax lien sale to enable the sale of

          8  water liens independently. In today's day and age of

          9  high property values, these liens will not be sold,

         10  the charges will be paid. Increased payment will

         11  reduce the need for yet another excessive rate

         12  increase.

         13                 I spent over two hours last night

         14  working on budgets with a property management firm

         15  with over 70 co-op and condos in which to the dismay

         16  of the comptroller we were forced to yet again

         17  assume another ten percent rate increase.

         18                 Thank you for your time.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Well, thank

         20  you, thank you, Mr. Schwartz, and with regard to the

         21  tax lien, Mr. Schwartz, this is something that

         22  certainly not escaped the attention of this

         23  Committee, but ultimately it's something that has to

         24  play out in the Finance Committee, and my

         25  contribution to the discussion of tax liens or that
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          2  issue, I know, I'm also a member of the Finance

          3  Committee, is that I'm just trying to get their

          4  operation in as good a shape as is possible so that

          5  when the day comes, that this too will be able to be

          6  able to be wielded in such a way that it will be

          7  done with fairness, but there's certainly support

          8  for tax liens from the Administration, and something

          9  that they've been talking to us about.

         10                 But, we want to nail down the

         11  operation first before we go forward on that, and

         12  there are even elements within the Administration

         13  that recognize this, and Mr. Vinar with regard to

         14  some other entity coming in under your things that

         15  would make an independent assessment regarding liens

         16  and determine the fairness or whatever, interesting

         17  concept.

         18                 I know that DEP certainly wouldn't

         19  support that, but in our discussion of this issue,

         20  which we're ultimately going to have with the

         21  Finance Committee, and I know that there is concern

         22  that this be dealt with fairly and perhaps that's a

         23  concept that might get some traction in that

         24  discussion.

         25                 So, I'm glad you brought that
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          2  forward, and so we do appreciate that, and also not

          3  reading your entire statement, which is lengthy and

          4  case studies, and so we appreciate that.

          5                 Ms. Miele, I want to thank you for

          6  your thoughtful comments, and for trying to shed

          7  light on this, on this issue, and we do very much

          8  appreciate your being here and your patience in

          9  waiting to testify, and I  --  oh, we've got other

         10  statements for the record; Council of New York

         11  Cooperative and Condominiums has submitted a

         12  statement for the record, and CHIP, Community

         13  Housing Improvement Program, and Ed Korman

         14  (phonetic) have submitted a statement.

         15                 I want to thank again Joe Singleton

         16  for the good work that he's done, the well deserved

         17  accolades that he's received here today.

         18                 Let me add my voice to the chorus on

         19  that one, and although we didn't  --  and your

         20  staying to the end of the hearing is a testament to

         21  your commitment to this.  We don't ordinarily get

         22  Deputy Commissioner's that stay right to the end of

         23  the hearing, particularly a long hearing like this

         24  one, and notwithstanding that fact that we didn't

         25  get  --  or this Committee didn't get what, I
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          2  believe, or really wanted to from this hearing was

          3  sort of the ultimate, sort of, crystallized plan for

          4  how we were going to get from where we are, to where

          5  we're going to want to be, and that is a

          6  disappointment.

          7                 But certainly there is an

          8  acknowledgment of all the ground that has been

          9  gained, and the good work that has been done in the

         10  last six months, and we, I think, now have more of a

         11  sense after this  hearing or the road that we all

         12  have to go to get where we want to be.  It certainly

         13  would have been nice had we gotten more in the way

         14  of firm commitments from DEP, but

         15  it's  --  we'll take the progress that's been made,

         16  we'll take the presence of Joe and his work ethic,

         17  and we will go forward from here.

         18                 With no one else wishing to be heard,

         19  we thank all the witnesses.  We thank people who

         20  participated in this hearing.           I thank the

         21  staff once again, and this hearing is adjourned.

         22                 (Hearing concluded at 4:30 p.m.)

         23

         24                 (Written Testimony Read into the

         25  Record.)
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          2

          3  Testimony Submitted By:

          4  Council of New York Cooperative and Condominiums

          5

          6                 My name is Mary Ann Rothman, and I am

          7  the Executive Director of the Council of New York

          8  Cooperatives and Condominiums, a membership

          9  organization of more than 2,300 housing cooperatives

         10  and condominiums located throughout the five

         11  boroughs of New York City and beyond.

         12                 For three decades, CNYC has provided

         13  education, information and advocacy to our members,

         14  and has tried to bring their need to the attention

         15  of lawmakers and of government agencies.

         16                 I commend the Committee for holding

         17  this hearing on water issues, and I thank you for

         18  the opportunity to testify today in favor of quickly

         19  finding a way to properly bill for water use, and to

         20  collect fair payment from all water users.

         21                 I understand the challenging task of

         22  DEP, and the Water Board, in maintaining our complex

         23  system of reservoirs, tunnels, et cetera, and

         24  understand that the water system must be self-

         25  sufficient, with water and sewer bills covering the
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          2  full cost of operating the system.

          3                 I have been involved in helping

          4  explain water issues to CNYC members and urging them

          5  to conserve.

          6                 We have tried to understand Universal

          7  Metering and then the Toilet Rebate Program.  We pay

          8  our bills on time; we conserve water and report

          9  drips.  It is disheartening to learn that millions

         10  of dollars of water bills are unpaid each year.

         11                 This problem must be solved and the

         12  monies legitimately owed must be collected.  This

         13  will help bring a return to more modest yearly

         14  increases in our water rates, and thus, will help

         15  keep housing costs in the City more affordable.

         16                 Thank you.

         17  Testimony submitted by:  Community Housing

         18  Improvement Program (CHIP)

         19                 Good afternoon, I am Patrick

         20  Siconolfi, Executive Director of the Community

         21  Housing Improvement Corporation, an association

         22  representing small and mid- sized owners of rental

         23  housing in New York City.  CHIP's 1,000 members own

         24  or manage about 250,000 units of housing.

         25                 Thank you, Councilman, for holding
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          2  this hearing, and for the opportunity to comment on

          3  the billing and customer service operations of the

          4  DEP.

          5                 First, CHIP would like to recognize

          6  the most important positive development on this

          7  subject which was the appointment of Joseph

          8  Singleton to be in charge of the water programs.

          9                 Though he has a daunting bureaucracy

         10  to move, he has shown himself to be ready to listen,

         11  ready to improve customer service, and ready to

         12  engage in dialogue.  CHIP thanks both Commissioner

         13  Lloyd for her enlightened choice, and Mr. Singleton

         14  for his dedication to improving customer service.

         15                 Several aspects of the billing

         16  operation require additional attention to be made

         17  workable and responsive to owner needs.

         18                 The first of these is eligibility for

         19  the Multi Family Conservation Program.  MCP is an

         20  important lifeline for owners of older buildings in

         21  economically distressed neighborhoods.

         22                 The program would be more accessible

         23  if two changes were made to eligibility standards.

         24                 One would be to require a leak

         25  standard which is realistic, given the experience of
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          2  such buildings.  Leak standards which are currently

          3  in effect are sufficiently strict as to eliminate

          4  the overwhelming majority of potential candidates.

          5  A workable standard would be one which was set at

          6  the point which corresponds to the median level of

          7  leaks measured in buildings, or at some defined

          8  percentage of such level.

          9                 The other change needed concerns

         10  inspection standards.

         11                 Currently, to be eligible, inspection

         12  access must be obtained to nearly all apartments in

         13  a building to ascertain the level of compliance.

         14  This is both unrealistic, and unnecessary.

         15  Alternatively, inspections should be conducted of

         16  all accessible units, as a subset representative of

         17  the building, and a determination made based on the

         18  findings in those units.

         19                 Next concerns the toilet retrofit

         20  program.  CHIP supports a retrofit program, and

         21  looks forward to early introduction of the program.

         22                 Clearly, the subsidy needs to be

         23  sufficient to make economic sense in the buildings

         24  which need to make this kind of capital investment,

         25  specifically older buildings serving populations of
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          2  working class and limited income New Yorkers.      CHIP

          3  is willing to provide input into the program's

          4  criteria to assist in targeting buildings most in

          5  need.

          6                 Our third point concerns the

          7  procedure to dispute a bill.  In the past, DEP would

          8  not entertain questions and disputes about billing

          9  unless a bill was already paid in full.           There

         10  has been a greater degree of flexibility under

         11  Commissioner Singleton's leadership, and on an ad

         12  hoc basis, disputes can be resolved without

         13  prepaying an erroneous amount.

         14                 What is needed now is a consistent

         15  policy allowing this as a matter of course.  It may

         16  be feasible to require a good faith payment of a

         17  portion of the undisputed amount, but clearly, the

         18  DEP should be in a position to back up its billing

         19  statements.

         20                 While MCP and billing disputes may

         21  concern subsets of the universe of building owners,

         22  a major concern shared broadly among all owners is

         23  the rapid rise in rates.  In the current billing

         24  cycle, rates increased by nearly ten percent, and

         25  they are likely to increase by as much again in the
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          2  coming cycle. DEP and the Water Board's own

          3  projections plan on capturing huge additional

          4  revenues from property owners.

          5                 These increases are burdensome for

          6  owners, particularly owners of financially marginal

          7  properties where rents do not sufficiently cover

          8  building operating costs.

          9                 As you are aware, in rent stabilized

         10  buildings, which account for about one- third of the

         11  housing units in the City, the Rent Guidelines Board

         12  sets allowable rents and not only does it not take

         13  all building operating costs into account, it takes

         14  no notice of what is happening with water rates.

         15  Last June, CHIP raised this point to the Water Board

         16  and in a historic move, the Water Board sent staff

         17  to testify before the RGB to explain water rate

         18  increases.  The RGB did not take note.

         19                 This year, we would ask that DEP and

         20  the Water Board begin an early effort to educate and

         21  apprise the RGB of coming water rate increases so

         22  they can be built into rents.

         23                 Rate increases must be understood in

         24  the context of other governmentally imposed property

         25  charges, the most serious of which is property
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          2  taxes, which have been escalating without restraint.

          3    It is, therefore, crucial to explore the reasoning

          4  behind the water rate increases.  While to some

          5  extent they are tied to efforts to incentivize

          6  conservation, they are largely driven by the needs

          7  of the capital program.  Its needs are extreme.

          8                 Accordingly, we would encourage the

          9  exploration of less capital intensive means of

         10  meeting the City's water supply needs.  What is

         11  needed now is a coordinated effort involving City

         12  and private experts to explore ways in which the

         13  needs of the capital program can be constrained in

         14  favor of water management based solutions.

         15                 Again, CHIP is willing to provide

         16  input to such an effort.

         17                 Thank you.
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          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, EMILY GRAVES, do hereby certify

         10  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         11  of the within proceeding.

         12                 I further certify that I am not

         13  related to any of the parties to this action by

         14  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         15  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         16                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         17  set my hand this 13th day of December 2006.
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         25                          EMILY GRAVES
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          9            I, EMILY GRAVES, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.
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